
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Transport Committee 

Date Wednesday 11 July 2018 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 

Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Tuesday 3 July 2018 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526;  
Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 
For media enquiries please contact Alison Bell, External Communications Manager;  
Telephone: 020 7983 4228; Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Transport Committee 
Wednesday 11 July 2018 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 78) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meetings of the 

Transport Committee held on 13 June 2018 and 25 June 2018 to be signed by the 

Chair as a correct record.  
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 48 and 53 to 78 are attached for Members 
and officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 79 - 82) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact Laura Pelling, laura.pelling@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5526 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 83 - 86) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact Laura Pelling, laura.pelling@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5526 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the action taken by the Chair under 

delegated authority, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, namely to 

agree a letter following the Committee meeting on 25 June 2018 to request further 

information from Govia Thameslink. 
 
 

6 Future of Rail in London (Pages 87 - 88) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Grace Pollard, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000  
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 
(a) Note the report as background to putting questions to guests on London’s rail 

network, and note the discussion; and 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 
Members, to agree the final report for the investigation.  

 

7 Response to Report on Future Transport (Pages 89 - 102) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Richard Berry; scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4000 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the response from Transport for London to 
its report, Future Transport: How is London Responding to Technological 
Innovation?, and the impact for the report as attached at Appendices 1 and 2. 
 
 

8 Transport Committee Work Programme (Pages 103 - 106) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4199 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Agree its work programme for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly year, as 

set out in the report; and 

 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree a submission to the Office of Rail and Road inquiry into 

service disruptions on the Govia Thameslink Railway network. 
 

mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

 

9 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Wednesday 12 September at 10.00am in 

the Chamber. 
 
 

10 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 11 July 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5526 

E-mail: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Wednesday 13 June 2018 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

 
Present: 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 An apology for absence was received from Navin Shah AM. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1  Resolved: 

 

 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 13 June 2018 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting of the Transport Committee held on 16 May 2018 

be signed by the Chair as a correct record.  

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Future of Rail in London (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions to the following invited guests: 

 David Leam, Infrastructure Director, London First; 

 Stephen Joseph, Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport; 

 Niall Bolger, Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton, and Chief Executive lead for 

Transport in the South London Partnership; and 

 Dr Helena Titheridge, Senior Lecturer, Department of Civil, Environmental and Geomatic 

Engineering, University College London. 

 

5.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

5.3 At this point in the meeting, the Chair welcomed pupils from Manor Longbridge School in 

Barking and Dagenham to the public gallery.  

 

5.4 During the course of the discussion, the following actions were agreed: 

 David Leam, London First, to provide any best practice examples of digital railway use 

from around the world; and 

 Stephen Joseph, Campaign for Better London, to provide the Committee with a copy of 

the survey undertaken of global examples of innovative forms of taxation to fund 

improvements to rail services. 

 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 13 June 2018 

 

 
 

5.5 Resolved: 

 

That: 

(a) The terms of reference for the investigation, as agreed by the Chair under 

delegated authority in consultation with party Group Lead Members, be noted; 

(b) The report and the discussion be noted; and 

(c) Authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree any related site visits. 

 

5.6 In accordance with Standing Order 2.2D, the Chair agreed to take the rest of the agenda in a 

different order.  

 
 

6   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

6.2 Resolved: 

 

That: 

(a) The work programme for the remainder for the 2018/19 Assembly year be 

agreed; 

(b) Authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference into an investigation into 

taxi and private hire services; and 

(c) The Committee meeting on 12 September 2018 be used to discuss Night Tube 

services.  

 

 
7   London TravelWatch Performance Report and Recruitment (Item 6) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions to the following invited guests: 

 Arthur Leathley, Chair, London TravelWatch; and 

 Janet Cooke, Chief Executive, London TravelWatch. 

 

7.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

7.3 During the course of the discussion the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch agreed to 

provide the Committee with further details of the timeline agreed with Transport for London 

(TfL) for implementing London TravelWatch’s recommendations on ticket offices across TfL. 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 13 June 2018 

 

 
 

7.4 Resolved: 

 

That: 

 

(a) London TravelWatch’s annual performance and the financial position as at 31 

March 2018, and the discussion be noted; and 

 

(b) Authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Leads, to 

agree the recruitment process for the three London TravelWatch Board 

positions, including Deputy Chair, due to expire at the end of the year. 

 

 
 
8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Monday 25 June 2018 at 11.00am, in 

the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 

9.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting  

 

10.1 The meeting ended at 12.30pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526; 

Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 

Page 8



 

 

 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Transport Committee – 13 June 2018 
 

Transcript of Item 5 – Future Rail in London  
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let us move on to our item, Future Rail in London.  We have a fantastic 

panel of guests before us today.  This is the first of two hearings, as well as a number of site visits and other 

roundtables we are holding looking at this. 

 

Let me introduce our guests.  First of all, Niall Bolger is the Chief Executive at Sutton Council but is here today 

as the Transport Executive Lead at the South London Partnership, which covers a number of boroughs in that 

part of London.  Stephen Joseph is the Chief Executive of the Campaign for Better Transport.  

Dr Helena Titheridge is from University College London.  David Leam is the Infrastructure Director at London 

First.  Thank you very much indeed for coming before us today. 

 

We have been doing - obviously, it is unofficial - a little poll on Twitter and we have been asking Londoners 

what would improve their train journeys.  Just to give you a flavour, probably not that much of a surprise: 

improved reliability 39%, more trains and more space 52%, better information 3%, nicer stations 6%.  Really, it 

is reliability and more trains and space.  That is one of the things that we will be looking at this morning. 

 

We know that our rail network is under huge strain and we know, back in 2017/18, we were ranked in terms of 

rail infrastructure as 19th out of 101 countries.  We have some way to go to be the best.  In terms of London, 

nine out of the 10 busiest stations in Great Britain are in London, and overcrowding, frequency and reliability 

are some of the real concerns for passengers. 

 

My opening question is: for you currently, what are the main challenges for London’s rail network?  Who would 

like to start?  Niall, shall I come to you first? 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton, and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  Yes, of course.  I will take a south London perspective, which echoes some 

of our data as well. 

 

The scale and size of the problem for south London is encapsulated in some key facts.  Five of the 10 busiest 

and most congested routes in the country in 2017 were in south London.  Five of the 10 busiest trains in the 

country are in south London.  That is also related to the fact that there is a 12% increase in ridership in relation 

to south London and two of the boroughs have no Transport for London (TfL) infrastructure whatsoever.  

There are more Underground stations outside London than there are in the sub-region. 

 

As a consequence of that, we have an issue relating to accessibility and environmental consequences.  That is 

encapsulated in the fact that 80% of journeys in my borough take place by car; only 22% of residents regularly 

use public transport for getting to work or accessing other services, including town centre facilities.  That is 

replicated in the other boroughs as well.  There is a significant deficiency in relation to reliability.  We rely on 

southern, main line and coastal services and, in the period in 2017, 29.5% of those trains were late or delayed 

for some reason or cancelled.  In the period between 11 December [2016] and 7 January 2017, that rose to 

35.4% of trains late, delayed or cancelled.  Given the fact that a lot of our residents are very dependent on rail 

Page 9



 

 

 

infrastructure for accessing jobs and employment in the Central Activities Zone, that is having an adverse 

impact on their quality of life and also the economic prosperity of the sub-region. 

 

The south London sub-region has been working to develop a growth proposition for our area and we have 

identified that transport and infrastructure is resulting in a 15% sub-optimisation in the economic potential.  

That is also replicated in the context of the fact that during the recession the sub-region lost more jobs than 

any other sub-region in London and has been slower to recover.  Now, that is hidden by the fact that we have 

quite economically active residents who are relatively wealthy in London terms, but actually most of that 

employment is in the Central Activities Zone and not in the sub-region.  As a consequence of that, we have an 

issue related to accessibility to central London and also across the sub-region itself to access employment 

areas within the sub-region and growth areas, which have been identified by the Mayor in the draft London 

Plan. 

 

Some of the information about the economic performance which may be of interest to Members of the 

Assembly are that Kingston, which is a strategic town centre within London, is the fourth highest retail centre 

in terms of value with £2.1 billion of retail expenditure per annum.  It is dependent on Kingston Station, which 

has four trains an hour from Waterloo, and some of those are the busiest trains I have mentioned earlier on.  

Part of our solution going forward, rather than describing the problem, has been very much about working with 

the Mayor to develop an infrastructure for good growth plan for south London.  We are also working with our 

sub-national partners on the Sub-National Transport Board in the greater southeast in looking at what the 

impacts are for our sub-region.  Frequently, our residents, who complain about this quite regularly in the 

resident surveys, feel they cannot access trains because they are already full by the time they get to the 

London border.  As a consequence of that, there is a need for us to work across the region and into the 

southeast region and work with the new southeast Sub-National Transport Board.  We need to look at that in 

terms of a holistic system. 

 

Metroisation was keenly supported by all of five boroughs in the South London Partnership across all political 

parties at that time, and it was deeply disappointing that that was cancelled by the current Secretary of State 

when that was not progressed after [The Rt. Hon] Patrick McLoughlin [MP, former Secretary of State for 

Transport] agreed to do so with the previous Mayor.  That would have enormously relieved access for our 

residents and it would have improved, relatively cheaply, access and development opportunities for further 

development in certain parts of the sub-region.  The example I would use is the London Cancer Hub, which is 

in my borough.  It is a nationally significant intervention.  It is identified as a strategic regeneration area under 

the new London Plan.  That is dependent on a station which receives one train an hour outside peak hours, 

Belmont Station.  The previous Commissioner for Transport [for London], when we came to the previous 

London Enterprise Panel - I had to check it on his phone - and he found it extraordinary that heavy 

infrastructure which exists in London is not being exploited to its fullest effect.  The intervention which will be 

required for that to have four to six trains an hour would cost £21 million, but that is absolutely dependent on 

metroisation and absolutely dependent on the investment which will come from TfL of an oversight in order 

that that infrastructure can be supported better.  The South London Partnership strongly supports the 

metroisation of south London infrastructure. 

 

I will finish my final point on this, which is a point that was made by the Assembly in 2002.  The Assembly 

considered transport in outer London at that time and it talked about metroisation and the necessary need for 

infrastructure improvements across all of the areas in the south London sub-region, particularly in relation to 

the Brighton Main Line.  We are talking about the future needs for infrastructure improvement.  Associated 

with that are sub-national board and the interests of south London.  The Brighton Main Line improvement for 

Croydon particularly but more widely for the southeast and for south London is crucial.  Metroisation of the 

Page 10



 

 

 

south London transport infrastructure for the heavy rail will be highly sub-optimised unless that infrastructure 

is improved because it occupies the space already.  Even with Thameslink, by 2041, that route will be 

completely full, standing-room-only and overcrowded.  There is a need for us to look at this as a whole with 

our partners in the greater southeast. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you very much for that.  You have made some interesting points 

also about the need for the orbital routes, not just always getting into the central zone.  I am sure we will pick 

that up later.  Stephen, do you want to outline the main challenges as you see them? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  Yes.  I would echo Niall’s 

point, really.  The overwhelming challenge for London’s rail network is capacity or lack of it.  That is capacity, 

as well as for passengers, for freight as well.  There is a strong case for rail freight in London.  There is a strong 

debate between TfL and the rail freight operators about what freight should operate at what time, but I do not 

think there is any disagreement that having more freight by rail in London is important because it reduces lorry 

traffic on the roads. 

 

Capacity is the overwhelming challenge.  The metroisation point is a clear one, but it is what that leads to.  TfL 

and successive Mayors have tried to join up rail and development, and the Barking Riverside scheme is a good 

example of that.  I would say that that is not well done at national level and, because national Government 

controls - at the moment - most of the London rail network, that means that the priority of siting new 

development and improving rail services in London so as to enable housing and other development is not given 

the priority that it needs.  Capacity is clearly the big challenge and going forward. 

 

I would say there are three other main challenges.  One is service quality.  The fact is that the service quality on 

London’s railways -- I am a Thameslink user and so I can speak from personal experience. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You are scarred at the moment. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  I have the scars on my back 

and all that.  Linked to that, too, is the quality of the stations.  The work we have done has overwhelmingly 

shown that the quality of service provided, not just when TfL controlled national rail services on London 

Overground but when other devolved authorities do it -- Merseyrail, which has had much less investment than 

London Overground, went from being ‘misery rail’ to being one of the best performing railways in the country.  

That is because there is a local focus and a proper contract.  The Welsh Government has just gone down a 

rather similar route with a long-term concession.  That is because there is much more immediate accountability 

to the likes of this Committee among others, and that means that the quality of the stations -- stations are 

being staffed from first to last train compared with a lot of outer London and Home Counties railway services, 

even at quite big stations.  It feels like a free railway after about 8.00pm or 9.00pm in the evening; there are 

no staff around.  Service quality is a huge issue for passengers particularly late at night but just generally. 

 

A third challenge is fares.  This is not an issue for London directly, but it is an issue indirectly because the 

failure to provide flexible smart ticketing outside of London has an impact on London.  We have talked to 

people who drive in from Kent to, say, Rotherhithe to get on the TfL network because they are, for example, 

women working on job shares two days a week and the Anytime fare is simply unaffordable for them.  I know 

TfL has its financial challenges, but if you look at what has been happening to fulltime season ticket, revenue 

and travel in the Home Counties, in London and the wider southeast, you will see that this is a really big issue 

with the lack of flexible ticketing.  Arguably, it discriminates particularly against women who work part-time.  

Fares reform seems to be an issue. 

Page 11



 

 

 

 

The final issue is accessibility.  There has been a move towards greater accessibility at the stations in London, 

but it has not been matched.  We are just starting to see some accessible humps go in at the new Thameslink 

stations.  They are having to be retrofitted, which gives you a sense of the failure to think about this compared 

with, say, Crossrail or the some of the other TfL services. 

 

Therefore, those are the four challenges: capacity, service quality, fares reform and accessibility. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you very much indeed.  That is very helpful.   

 

Dr Helena Titheridge (Senior Lecturer, Department of Civil, Environmental and Geomatic 

Engineering, University College London):  There is not much more I can say, apart from endorse the 

challenges that Niall and Stephen have both put forward. 

 

One thing that binds issues around reliability, accessibility and fares together is the challenge which does not 

affect central London so much but will be affecting areas around London, which is that of the aging 

population.  That, combined with changing work patterns and more older people working longer in the future, 

is going to have an impact on what users want from our rail systems as they come into London.  That affects 

accessibility of the rail systems, it affects the quality of service, and it affects fares because it may well mean 

more off-peak working and more part-time working. 

 

Reflecting a little bit more on the reliability aspect, it is not just about trains running on time.  This matches 

with some of the points that Stephen was saying.  If you are undertaking a journey, you do not just want to 

know that this leg will work; you want to know that the whole journey from start to finish will work for you.  

For some passengers, that will mean knowing that there is going to be a taxi at the rail station at the far end 

once they are in more rural areas, knowing that there is going to be station staff on hand to help, knowing that 

the lifts are working so that they know they can do that journey.  If you are a very confident traveller with a 

disability at the moment, you can probably just about manage, depending on your confidence and your type of 

disability, but it can be very difficult.  We need to start thinking about how we get away from thinking that 

everybody is young and working from 9.00am to 5.00pm in central London. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes, think about the whole population, really. 

 

Dr Helena Titheridge (Senior Lecturer, Department of Civil, Environmental and Geomatic 

Engineering, University College London):  The whole population, yes. 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  From the business perspective, the mission-critical 

thing really for the rail network is that it connects the homes in London and around the southeast with the 

jobs, particularly those jobs in the highly productive centre of London.  That is the most critical thing of all. 

 

In terms of that, I thought your unscientific Twitter poll sounded about right to me, to be honest.  The 

reliability figure struck me as higher than it should be.  I suspect that it is partly related to some of the issues 

that Stephen mentioned, some of the terrible failures largely of planning around some of the commuter routes 

coming into London, but capacity continues to be the big challenge. 

 

Our biggest fear, to be perfectly honest, is that we succumb to complacency, almost.  London has improved 

very significantly over the last couple of decades, linked particularly to the emergence of this institution, the 

mayoralty, TfL and all the associated architecture.  We have done much better in planning for the future and 

Page 12



 

 

 

investment.  However, if we look back at the decades preceding that, the story was one of very real failure and 

considerable underinvestment in the London transport infrastructure.  We have spent two decades making 

good on that, to be honest, and playing catch-up.  The worst thing we could possibly do now is to think, “OK, 

Thameslink is coming to an end and Crossrail is almost done.  Now is the time for an investment holiday”.  That 

would be completely wrong.  What we need to do here in London is to keep planning and keep investing for 

the future. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Absolutely.  It is too tempting for people to put their feet up now and 

think, “We have done London”.  Are there any other comments about the impact of these challenges on 

passengers and around accessibility to the network that anyone else wants to add?  Niall? 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton, and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  Yes.  It is absolutely definitely the case that transport and access and rail 

in particular in the sub-region is one of the top priorities for our residents.  When we asked them, as we have 

recently in my own borough, what the top priorities for residents are in terms of the public services they 

receive in the context of everything else that we do, transport was second.  We have no role particularly in 

transport commissioning other than advocating and lobbying, but it is something which we need to respond to. 

 

Echoing what my colleagues said earlier on in relation to the infrastructure improvements within London, they 

are undoubtedly being welcomed and are incredibly successful and they have made a big difference, but that is 

principally for central London and for people to get into central London.  We need to make sure the Mayor’s 

strategy around polycentric cities, about the fact that the sub-regional economies are as important to London’s 

future wellbeing and wealth, then we need to start thinking about the infrastructure of outer London.  

Certainly, that is a source of resentment for residents as well.  This comes up in relation to, believe it or not, 

the precept for Crossrail and about how that has not been applied to the outer London issue and problem.  

People who are more informed do talk about that. 

 

There are undoubtedly stories which I can tell you about.  For example, we had an investor conference in 

Sutton, which was for a showcasing of key development sites.  On that day, of course, Southern Rail decided 

that they would have a strike.  Obviously, those investors did not come and we could not showcase the 

opportunities.  These are the sorts of things that we need to address.  That has a genuine, real impact on the 

ability for us in south London and Sutton specifically to meet our objectives and the mayoral ambition for 

housing growth, for example.  If investors cannot come, residents cannot come. 

 

As a consequence of that, we need to think very carefully about how we deal with outer London’s 

requirements for better connectivity within sub-regions - and that would be the case in some of the other sub-

regions as well - but also in terms of recognising that there is connectivity into London and also out of London 

and within sub-regions for us to be making sure that we maximise the opportunities for residents to access jobs 

and employment and also to have a good quality of life and minimise the environmental consequences of 

being so car-dependent. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Does anyone else want to come in on that?  Stephen? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  There is a thing here about 

joining up rail strategy with wider mayoral objectives; for example, the issue of air quality and, as Niall has said, 

reducing car use into London.  Rail should be part of that and there are opportunities to improve that.  The 

Mayor’s Transport Strategy talks about more orbital rail and there are opportunities in west London for that.  It 

is also about applying the Healthy Streets priority that is in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy to rail, which is 

Page 13



 

 

 

about good links to stations.  As Helena has said, this is really important.  This is about door-to-door journeys.  

It is about making sure that people can get to and from stations easily.  That is one of the things that puts 

people off in outer London.  Sometimes stations are across dual carriageways.  There is not proper thinking 

about this. 

 

We did some work with Abellio based on its Dutch parent body called Fixing the Link, which is work they have 

done across the Dutch railway network looking at how to make the links between stations and the surrounding 

areas better for pedestrians.  We did a bit of work in places like Colchester where the main station is on the 

north side of the town and there are dual carriageways, roundabouts and things.  Simple things can be done to 

make those things work better. 

 

There is a need to give more thought to how the railway stations relate to the surrounding areas - that is true 

of the Underground as well as main line stations, by the way - so as to make them genuinely accessible in the 

broad sense and to think about ways in which those can be accessed easily by foot and by bike so that we do 

not get so much car travel to stations.  That could make a real difference in the outer London story, too, really. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is a great suggestion.  I am going to move us on, just to pick your 

brains about how London’s network compares internationally or even nationally to other cities.  Do you have 

any information?  Maybe I will go to David first.  How do we compare?  It always feels like we have such a 

creaking, aging infrastructure, but do we, in reality? 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  If we went around the country, we would probably 

get some strong responses on that from other parts of the country -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes, I am sure. 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  -- who feel rather strongly that they have been 

relatively neglected, and they do have a point.  We have been under investing in transport infrastructure 

elsewhere in the country. 

 

At the international level, it is probably a mixed picture.  I was flicking through the New York Times yesterday, 

of course one of our principal global competitors, but their transport infrastructure is in a terrible mess.  They 

are only now really trying to think about how they modernise their subway system and they have someone with 

TfL experience to try to help them to do it. 

 

Elsewhere, in Europe, I guess the picture is a bit more mixed.  Some of the European capital cities have good 

public transport networks.  If we go to smaller European cities, it is a slightly different challenge, but it is 

somewhat easier in terms of the geography and the scale. 

 

We are doing respectably, but these things have long timescales.  If we do not continue to plan and continue 

to invest, then in five years’ time and in 10 years’ time, we are storing up terrible problems for ourselves. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Helena, do you have any examples, internationally or nationally, where 

there is better practice than London? 

 

Dr Helena Titheridge (Senior Lecturer, Department of Civil, Environmental and Geomatic 

Engineering, University College London):  There is nowhere I would say was completely better practice.  

The picture is mixed.  There are other cities with similar aging infrastructure that is operating at or over 

Page 14



 

 

 

capacity.  There are some cities where the infrastructure works better from the crowding perspective and the 

reliability perspective but is not perhaps performing still on the accessibility angle and meeting everybody’s 

needs.  It is more a case of drawing bits of best practice from different aspects of different cities, rather than 

one being above or below on every aspect. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Stephen, you look at internationally.  Do you have any places we 

should be looking at? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  There is some good 

practice, as Helena has said, in other places.  London does have a very dense rail network. 

 

The issue of devolution and the boundaries between different authorities and between local, regional, sub-

regional and national bodies seems to be a common problem, but it is the case that, say, German and French 

cities seem to have more ability to manage their local and regional rail networks than London does.  I take 

Niall’s point about transport from the southeast.  Hertfordshire suggested the need for a grouping to manage 

London’s railways and the London southeast rail network with the surrounding counties, and there has been 

quite a lot of interest in that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are going to come on to that in a bit. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  If you go to German cities, 

you find there are what are known as Verkehrsverbund, which are in fact that: they are, say, Munich City 

Council and the surrounding local authorities and transport operators coming together to arrange the transport 

network and let contracts to Deutsche Bahn or indeed to bodies like National Express and Arriva to manage 

and run the local rail network.  That devolution you see in greater Paris as well.  That is one area where, in 

stopping the devolution of local rail services and refusing to really think about sub-regional management, the 

current Government policy is flying against what is happening elsewhere in the world. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That works. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  And it works.  I would just 

say that it is almost inconceivable that if TfL had been in control of the Thameslink project it would have 

ended up like this because TfL would have had an incentive - not being, among other things, hauled before 

this Committee - to call a halt when it was clear that the new timetable was not going to work.  I take David’s 

[Leam] point. Your Twitter poll is influenced by some of the mess that has happened there and complete 

unpredictability.  None of the railways which are managed by the devolved bodies could have possibly made 

such a mess of it as has happened here. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are looking forward to Govia Thameslink Railway (GTR) and 

Network Rail coming before us on 25 June [2018].  Niall, briefly, do you want to come in on this before I move 

on? 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton, and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  Yes, just in terms of the international comparisons, as the Committee will 

be aware, we are looking - we and TfL in partnership - to extend the tram in south London.  As part of that, 

there is a thing that I would like to draw to your attention.  We have looked at how small and medium-sized 

cities, in France, for example, are able to build that infrastructure relatively quickly and do that autonomously 

with the support of government to be able to finance it differently.  We have looked at, for example, 

Page 15



 

 

 

Strasbourg and Besançon.  Those are similar sizes to Sutton and Merton in terms of population and they are 

able to finance and fund that infrastructure by issuing bonds independently, and are given a very wide beam in 

relation to their autonomy and authority to raise money within the markets, which does not exist for us easily.  

Some of the German examples are really important as well.  Some of the stuff that may be underpinning that 

more reliability, more accountability and much more democratic transparency is the ability to finance it and a 

real, genuine connection with the costs of the infrastructure by the citizens who are responsible or are using it. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We will look at finance later.  That sounds very interesting.  All right.  

Let us look at how we plan demand for rail services.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Thank you, Chair.  Thank you very much and good morning to all of you.  A couple of 

comments, Niall.  Thank you for your championing of outer London.  It is very true about this resentment in 

outer London that has been felt over many years about the imbalance of investment.  It is good to hear from 

you around that. 

 

Just a last comment before I pursue that is the one in five journeys by public transport in the southwest sector.  

That is shocking.  Until we get that infrastructure investment, it would be rather fanciful that people get out of 

their cars until we get that. 

 

Anyway, on forecasting demand, we have heard already talk about congestion and about increase in ridership 

and capacity as a major challenge.  That was your evidence that you gave earlier.  We know and we understand 

that London’s population will grow, potentially, to 10.8 million by 2041 and so there are some issues there.  

However, there is an imbalance and I want your comments really about how you judge this imbalance about 

the way that people’s work practices are changing, which they are, and the way that people, for example, shop 

differently.  Shops are coming to people from elsewhere. 

 

My first question to all of you really is: how is your perception about how the demand forecasts are being 

made?  Your comments around that, Niall? 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton, and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  We principally look at the evidence base for this, which is included in the 

mayoral supporting documentation for the draft London Plan at the moment, particularly in terms of the 

Strategic Housing Land [Availability] Assessment and how that is completely and utterly dependent, for 

example, on Crossrail being implemented.  We know, for example, in our sub-region that the high level of 

housing growth that is expected to meet the London Plan objectives and that increasing population by 2041 is 

completely dependent on infrastructure improvement, including Crossrail 2.  However, we also have the 

remedial problem and we have a remedial issue in terms of the infrastructure not being able to cope, as we 

have already outlined, with the existing population growth and the existing increase in ridership.  That 60% 

increase is part of the reason why, I would argue, the reliability of the infrastructure is so poor.  It is incapable 

of accommodating the demands being put on it at the moment.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  What we want to understand, Niall, is also - and others will continue - the robustness 

of this.  We can say that it will go up 60% and I have seen the morning peak up by 50% by 2041.  What I 

would also like to explore is how dependable those figures are and the basis around them.  Sorry to interrupt 

you. 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton, and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  That is fine.  We are dependent, obviously, on the best knowledge we 

Page 16



 

 

 

have available.  On the basis of the projections in terms of population that we have, which are relatively 

reasonable and have been tested through the mayoral strategies, then we need to think about what we do in 

terms of the prediction in terms of the infrastructure requirements and the location of that growth, which is 

also related to the London Plan objectives. 

 

My contestation is the fact that those areas where growth is expected in outer London are already underserved 

by infrastructure.  It is not only the new infrastructure that is required; the existing infrastructure is completely 

inadequate.  Some of the areas where greatest growth is expected under the Mayor’s new London Plan are 

areas at Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) 1 and 2.  We already have a problem in terms of the access 

to infrastructure for those communities that exist at the moment, let alone additional growth. 

 

The solutions to that are not only going to be about heavy infrastructure.  We have to shift and change our 

policies, for example, around digital infrastructure, the nature of work and employment, having a look at how 

we get cheaper, easier, implementable solutions to enable greater mobility.  Also, our policies need to be about 

encouraging town centre development and concentrating economic activity in the town centres in outer 

London.  We cannot rely on that massive heavy infrastructure to support it. 

 

That is a challenge then for our overall infrastructure pattern.  The geometry of infrastructure in London is very 

much about pointing into the middle of the city.  We need to think about what that looks like in terms of what 

that means around the edge.  That is something which we need to use all of the tools that are at our disposal, 

including the other transport measures, including improvements in bus accessibility.  The tram, for example, is 

key for south London in the medium term, as well as encouraging other forms of transport access. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Thank you.  The point is well made because there are two issues.  There is the issue of 

areas where there is not the infrastructure.  Sutton, as you have just said, is the worst served borough, I 

believe, in London.  TfL is not present other than buses, of course, and so there is a need there already but 

there is also the growth need.  What I will be interested in exploring is you referred to - and the Mayor always 

refers to - the link between housing and demand and infrastructure.  Croydon as a borough gets that but has a 

potential around that.  Stephen, your thoughts around that from where you come from? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  One of the problems here 

is that the traditional tools used by transport planners are not very good at this and they are not good in two 

main ways. 

 

Firstly, that link between transport and development is not well organised and is not well represented in the 

way in which transport demand is talked about.  What it does not take account of is the difference in travel 

demand about where you place development.  Traditional transport planning tools do not tend to take account 

of how there will be a lot less car use if you place new development near railway stations and you provide a 

decent railway service or, indeed, a fast bus service, actually. 

 

Secondly, there is the way in which you design the developments.  Sutton’s Beddington Zero Energy 

Development (BedZED), which has much less carparking, generates much less travel, provided we put in things 

like car clubs and so on, than a very low-density development.  Particularly some of the commercial 

developments on, say, the Lee Valley or out in west London have generated a lot of car travel.  Therefore, 

transport planning tools are not very good at that level. 

 

They are also not very good at spotting the changes in trends.  There was a recent report, which the 

Committee might want to take a look at, done by an independent Commission on Travel Demand, which 

Page 17



 

 

 

pointed out exactly as you have said: there are huge changes in work and shopping patterns, such that there 

are reducing numbers of trips happening particularly in cities.  The report highlights that current transport 

policy trends do not take account of that.  Particularly just outside the Greater London borders, the way in 

which roads are being planned assumes huge future growth in traffic that simply may not be there.  The 

Passenger Demand Forecasting Handbook, which is how national rail is planned, does not take account of any 

of this.  In fact, one of the reasons why the Department for Transport (DfT) has been so resistant to fares 

reform, we think, is because they think it is going to lose them lots of money because they have not taken 

account of the changes in working patterns and where people live. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  They are not taking account of this at all? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  No, they are not taking 

account of this at all. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  That is rather odd. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  There is a very interesting 

graph in that Commission’s report which talks about leads in future demand in its development plan based on 

the way in which transport plans are delivered, which shows that even the lowest growth forecast implies much 

greater growth in traffic and trips than has happened in Leeds for 30 years.  I have mentioned Leeds, but the 

point is made generally.  I know that there are intense debates between TfL and the DfT over travel demand 

and over who is right about this kind of stuff.  By the way, it underlies some of the arguments between TfL and 

the Government over future service access demand for the Heathrow third runway.  They are technical 

arguments about what kinds of forecasts you use and whether you predict past trends continuing and so on 

versus taking account of the changes.  They are a really important issue and, as I say, also links to the join-up 

between transport and planning, which the Government has been traditionally terrible at on a national level. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Of course, as we said earlier, there is the issue about the demand issue and people 

coming into the centre, but there is of course the orbital demand and where that is.  Helena, would you like to 

comment? 

 

Dr Helena Titheridge (Senior Lecturer, Department of Civil, Environmental and Geomatic 

Engineering, University College London):  On Stephen’s point about the models not taking the new 

developments into account properly and the links between transport facilities at those developments, I would 

just highlight a case.  We did some work quite a few years ago now looking at the New Delhi metro.  A couple 

of the stations along there when it first opened were performing very poorly, much below expected from the 

models.  What we think was happening was that because of the way in which they designed the metro station 

with a huge carpark in front of it, buses on the wrong side of the carpark and very few connecting shops and 

things, it was not creating a pleasant place for people to travel to and easy journeys and so people were not 

using it.  That level of nuance is not in the typical transport planning tools that we use. 

 

There is a question, as you say, about the orbital versus central trips.  We tend to look at the past demand to 

predict future demand, which is not sensible, whether it is talking about changing work practices or just even 

changing preferences around our transport system. 

 

There is a focus on peak hour.  With changing work practices, focusing on what happens in the morning peak 

is not going to lead us to sensible solutions. 

 

Page 18



 

 

 

Another limitation of many traditional transport planning models is really that they are not very sensitive to all 

of the variety of choices that people can make in response to a change in the system, whether that is to not do 

the trip at all, to start doing their shopping online, changing routes, changing destinations.  It tends to look at 

changing routes but none of the others.  There are a lot of questions around the figures that we are using. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  There is also the issue about the relocation of businesses and work itself because some 

large-scale employers are moving out.  I can think of the Home Office with 4,000 jobs in Croydon.  I am sure 

Kingston and Sutton will be wanting big companies to move out.  There is that, possibly, to think about. 

 

Dr Helena Titheridge (Senior Lecturer, Department of Civil, Environmental and Geomatic 

Engineering, University College London):  Then there is the work in practice.  Many when they are moving 

out are going to hotdesking and encouraging employees to work at home several days a week. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  David, what is the business take on that? 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  On the transport demand, we are facing much more 

uncertainty than we have done in recent years and that is a fact we are grappling with.  I have not seen any 

comprehensive or clear evidence or analysis.  People are still trying to get their heads around this. 

 

However, there is no doubt that both TfL on its network and the commuter rail services coming into London 

have both reported some dips in demand for a mix of reasons.  Partly it is some changes in work patterns, 

maybe.  It could be a bit of a dip in economic activity.  It could be tourists and visitors outside of London being 

a bit more nervous about coming into London in response to some of the challenges that we have seen over 

the past year or two.  There is internet shopping, as you say.  There are a number of factors at play here and 

we do need to get to the bottom of them more. 

 

They seem to be experienced more on the commuter rail network than on the TfL network, as far as I can tell, 

particularly the TfL peaks.  It is not obvious to me that we have seen some radical changes in peak travel 

activity on the core TfL network.  It is clearly still the case that in that morning peak, which can be for quite a 

period in London - try getting off a train at one of the big London terminuses and getting onto the Tube 

network - there is very real congestion there now, let alone in five years or ten years.  There are bits of the 

Tube network.  Try getting on a train south of Stockwell in the morning peak on the Northern line.  You will 

not.  Those trains are full.  Similarly, in outer London, the patchiness of some of the services means that some 

of those are very full. 

 

There is an asymmetry here.  It is the case that there is more uncertainty there.  My fear is how we react to that 

uncertainty.  We will have siren voices upstream from our friends in the Treasury and the DfT saying, “Let us 

just sit tight and see what pans out.  Let us not make big plans.  It might be that demand does not go up.  We 

should just sit tight and see what pans out”, whereas the fact of London at the moment is that we are 

experiencing some real capacity and crowding problems now.  The signs are that they are likely to get worse 

and I am much more worried about an absence of capacity in the future then I am about building some 

infrastructure that will be underutilised.  We do not really have much experience of that in the past 50 years.  It 

is not a fear that is high on my list. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Lastly, the point is a good one about the capacity issues.  Those people who are trying 

to get on the Tube or on the train at the moment, if they heard that there may be a rise of 50% over   20 

years, would be horrified because they cannot get on it at the moment.  What we have heard here is that the 

modelling and the forecasting is, at best, a bit foggy and it needs to get better.   

Page 19



 

 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you very much indeed for that.  We are going to move 

on to planning for London’s future rail needs.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  You have all touched on it, essentially, in terms of the 

infrastructure and how we look at dealing with the capacity and population rise in London.  Also, you touched 

on some of the improvements that we need at certain stations.  I have lived in Brixton all my life and the only 

place I do not feel safe is Brixton Railway Station.  I would not encourage anyone to use that station at night 

because it is just so dark and dingy and it needs such a major uplift. 

 

I think about my journeys on the railways and the Tube prior to having children, whereas now I have children 

and I have to meticulously plan out my route in terms of looking at stations that are accessible.  My whole day 

could change if I turn up at a station and - guess what - the lifts are out of order.  It makes a big difference.  

Then we talk about residents in London with disabilities.  In terms of that infrastructure and the challenges, 

what key things do you feel that we need that would benefit Londoners the most?  I will start with you, David. 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  There are two things.  There is absolutely the 

infrastructure, but actually, following on from the previous point and it came up a bit in the discussion earlier, 

there is also the fares and ticketing side of things.  There clearly are some changes in the structure of demand.  

More people are working part-time.  More people are working flexibly from home at least one day a week, 

typically a Friday, and so it is quite lumpy.  TfL has been world leaders in terms of things like contactless.  We 

have not seen that same spirit of innovation and creativity about the sorts of tickets that we sell to people or 

the sorts of fare structure.  That is one area over next 10 years or so where there is scope for more innovation 

and a bit of creativity to think about how the products that TfL is offering can match better the reality of 

Londoners’ day-to-day lives. 

 

On the infrastructure side, we clearly are going to need some more of it.  The Mayor’s Transport Strategy is a 

good strategy.  It is a good long-term vision.  It has identified all of the things that I would hope to see in it 

and the various upgrades.  There is no shortage of good plans.  There are some absolutely critical 

improvements to existing infrastructure.  I would put the Tube modernisation programme very high up the list.  

That continuing it is absolutely critical.  If there were any signs that things like the Piccadilly line were being 

delayed or put back further, it would be a very real cause for alarm for us.  That would be a red flashing light. 

 

Beyond that, we clearly do need to keep planning for some new bits of infrastructure.  We have been very 

vigorous in making the case for Crossrail 2.  That does stand out to us as the major new priority infrastructure 

requirement for London and the southeast in the 2020s.  That to us stands out head and shoulders above it as 

a very good project that would add significant capacity.  The big challenge is one of paying for it and 

affordability.  That is something that we are all grappling with. 

 

Part of the fact that we are going to have to confront that is that, if in London and the south east we want to 

keep investing in our network and we accept the needs for investment across the wider UK as well, which we 

have to - there is a very real need out there to invest in things like the Northern Powerhouse Rail - then we are 

going to have to contribute ourselves.  That is the message coming back from the Treasury and the DfT.  It is 

not a wholly welcome one.  My members in the business community would rather not pay additionally for 

better infrastructure.  However, if that is part of the deal, we have shown with the Crossrail funding package, 

business rates, developer contributions and the mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) that that will be 

part of the deal.  Looking forward, that will have to continue to be part of the deal in future, both for the 

members I represent and also, I suspect, for some of the people you represent, whether through the fares they 

Page 20



 

 

 

pay or through things like council tax.  This is going to be difficult, but we have to accept that if we want 

continued investment, Londoners and London businesses are going to have to help to do their bit. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  That is great.  Is there anything you wanted to add on to that 

statement? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  It would be easy to answer 

this question by talking about more infrastructure and David [Leam] is right that we need more infrastructure, 

but the points you made about the quality of service equally deserve planning for the reasons that Helena said 

about the changing nature of London’s population and aging population. 

 

I would suggest to two things, really.  Firstly, metroisation, which we have talked about before, means that you 

are investing in interchanges.  If TfL had the south London rail network, one of the things it wanted to do was 

to put an interchange at Streatham so that you would be able to run frequent trains into the main line stations 

rather than four trains an hour or something, compared with 36 on the Victoria line.  It is all very well Network 

Rail talking about digital railways and the technology that goes with that, but metroisation is the only way we 

are really going to take advantage of that technology coming forward.  It is about interchanges and joining up 

the system. 

 

Then it is about investment in accessibility and staffing and support so that you have visible staffing at Brixton 

and other main line stations and accessibility.  The Access for All Fund, which TfL has managed to get bits of 

from the national Government, feels a bit like grabbing bits of money as it passes rather than looking at the 

London rail network and working out the places that really need accessibility improvements that can be done.  

Denmark Hill, which is next to King’s College Hospital, has shown that you can take an old Victorian standard 

suburban railway station and make it accessible and some of the London Overground stations like West 

Hampstead are starting to do that, too. 

 

It is easy to think about the big-ticket Crossrail 2.  I am not criticising David [Leam].  I am just saying that 

alongside that we need to think about the other things that are about planning for the future. 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton, and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  I would agree entirely with that proposition.  The need for the heavy 

infrastructure is absolutely there.  The fact is that there is a substantial number of stations in our sub-region 

across London which are completely inaccessible for significant proportions of the population, whether they be 

elderly or whether they have a disability or whether they are afraid of going there.  That cannot be something 

that we can ignore.  That does not need complicated financing mechanisms and mayoral CILs.  It needs 

attention to the basics. 

 

That is absolutely the case, for example, in the Thameslink loop that goes through Merton and Sutton, all of 

the stations on that loop are completely inaccessible to people with disabilities.  They are all dependent on 

stairs.  That is absolutely a more than necessary requirement for us to think about investing in that.  That is 

unacceptable and we need to make sure that we are putting in place the infrastructure to allow everyone to 

use the transport network. 

 

Another issue also from the Assembly Members’ position in terms of the safety issue is in Sutton at the 

moment we are undertaking as part of our Digital Strategy a programme called Smart Place, which is looking at 

ways in which we can solve knotty problems about managing urban spaces.  One of those is about access and 

accessibility for people with profound learning disabilities who require independent travel.  Thinking about how 

Page 21



 

 

 

we can apply digital mechanisms to enable accessibility to the transport network and ensure those are safe is 

part of our challenge.  Think not only about the heavy infrastructure, but also the supporting mechanisms 

about information, safety and supervision which we can think about using alternative digital strategies to 

achieve. 

 

We have huge opportunities in London with the 5G network and the national non-domestic rates (NNDR) 

devolution arrangements we have. The sub-region has submitted, for example, for our bid to that fund the 

establishment of the local area network which is 5G-enabled to enable that real-time information which 

enables you and others to make those choices about where to go, how to use that infrastructure, how to use 

what we have at the moment more smartly and make the smart choices.  That does not require huge amounts 

of capital investment; it requires lateral thinking about what the problem looks like. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  I appreciate that you may not have studied it inside out, Network 

Rail runs its cycles in five years with the control period plans.  The current one, Control Period 6, runs from 

2019 to 2024, whereas if you look at the Mayor’s Transport Strategy, it covers a much longer timespan of up 

to 2041.  To what extent do you feel that some of the things you have just touched on are captured in the 

current network rail cycle control plan? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  Not at all.  That is the short 

answer.  This is a general problem; it is not just London that faces that because all the city regions have or are 

developing those kinds of long-term plans.  If you went to talk to the Mayor of the Cambridge and 

Peterborough Combined Authority, he would talk about the challenge of growth and development looking a 

long way out and trying to get a view about rail development.  The Lee Valley line issues and the Stansted 

corridor very strongly relates to that. 

 

There is a very strong case but for much longer-term planning in these areas, but, if anything, the problem we 

have is that the current control period seems to be shortening rather than lengthening with some of the 

problems that the national rail is facing and subject to ever more intense short-term political interference, 

particularly on enhancements.  The enhancement funding is now directly under the control of the DfT for the 

next control period.  It is unclear how that is going to be spent.  There is not clarity on that at the moment and 

what, if anything, London gets out of that.  That is a real concern. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Helena, is there anything you wanted to add, specifically in terms 

of Network Rail’s plans and maybe looking at the range of policies and ideas outlined in the Mayor’s Transport 

Strategy? 

 

Dr Helena Titheridge (Senior Lecturer, Department of Civil, Environmental and Geomatic 

Engineering, University College London):  Nothing particularly on the national rail plans.  In terms of the 

Mayor’s Transport Strategy, I want to reiterate what my colleagues have said around looking at the smaller 

stations and the quality of those smaller stations, ensuring that service quality and staffing at stations is part of 

that consideration.  Then, finally, thinking more about information provision to passengers and how that is 

done and what sort of information through what mechanisms suits them best, thinking of the whole variety of 

passengers from the regular commuters to the more occasional users of the rail system who are perhaps less 

confident travellers.  Using your own example there, if you had known in advance to check that morning to see 

if the lifts were out, it might have saved you a lot of trouble. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  If you have time to check, but when you turn up it is a totally 

different story. 

Page 22



 

 

 

 

Dr Helena Titheridge (Senior Lecturer, Department of Civil, Environmental and Geomatic 

Engineering, University College London):  Absolutely.  Information is not valuable if it is not accurate. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Could I just pick up?  In the Mayor’s final Transport Strategy, he really 

had beefed up the section on things like the West London Orbital line.  David, is that a reality?  Is it 

deliverable?  We have other really exciting projects, Crossrail 2, the Bakerloo line extension, things that we all 

have looked at and generally support, but is it realistic?  Is it going to be delivered? 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  No.  There was a great range of projects and a great 

list of projects, all of which, I am sure, have positive business cases and would make a significant positive 

difference.  The reality we face is that, in the very near term at least, they are not going to be affordable and 

deliverable.  The Mayor’s Transport Strategy has, of course, quite a long look over a long horizon.  Over a 20-

year period maybe it is more plausible, but I am afraid we are simply not going to be able to advance on all 

fronts in the next two years or the next five years.  We are going to have to make some slightly uncomfortable 

choices about prioritisation. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  What are you hopeful we might make progress on, having looked at 

the whole Strategy and with your expertise in this area? 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  There is the critical progress on some of the ... I 

hesitate to call it “business as usual” because it is more than that.  I guess “elevated business-as-usual” such as 

the Tube modernisation programme I am confident will continue. 

 

Beyond that, I guess, on the big enhancements, we have a range of options which are being developed further, 

which is the right thing to do.  There are good options around the Bakerloo line extension, extending the 

Docklands Light Railway (DLR) to Thamesmead, say, extending Crossrail east.  The west London one I know 

less well, to be perfectly honest, but partly that will depend on the interrelationship with housing.  Where there 

is a boost to housing, these things will be more attractive.  It is a bit of a challenge because, inevitably, it takes 

time for that housing to come through.  There is a great desire to see more housing now, next year, the year 

after.  These big transport schemes will have an impact that is further out than that.  I continue to be a very 

strong champion for Crossrail 2, not because it is the only thing that matters.  I certainly do not think that, but 

we have seen before that they are a big ask, these projects, but they are also a big prize.  We did see that with 

Crossrail 1, we had a long discussion in London.  Did trying to push for a big prize like that risk compromising 

the Tube modernisation programme and some other things?  Actually, we managed to make progress on both. 

 

There is a premium on ambition.  We should not stop being ambitious and being demanding and pushing the 

boundaries of what is possible, but over the next year or two let us see what commitments and promises we 

can extract from the Government, particularly around the budget this year, and then we are looking at entering 

into a spending review territory next year at which some of these debates are going to have to be had.  As a 

city, we are going to have to think about our asks and choosing them.  If we are asking for 20 things, we might 

be heard slightly less favourably than if we have three priorities, say. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  David - and others might wish to comment - just on High Speed 2 (HS2), if it happens, do 

we think that will have an impact on London’s rail service? 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  HS2, as we stand at the moment, seems to be one of 

those things that is absolutely baked into the Government’s plans for the next couple of decades, and so that 

Page 23



 

 

 

seems to be one of the firm constants out there.  It clearly will have an impact in particular places.  It will have 

a very real impact at Euston Station and at Old Oak where it interfaces with the London network.  At Euston, 

the impact it will have is to bring more people into Euston Station, a station that is already struggling to cope 

with the volumes of people it has.  What we will see at Euston Station, unless we do something different, is 

that in the peak hours it will close.  You will be standing on the concourse waiting to get entrance into the 

Tube station unless we do something radical.  That is part of the justification for the interchange with 

Crossrail 2 there. 

 

However, HS2 is happening.  2026, I think it is, the first stage to Birmingham.  That will mean additional 

people coming into what is already a congested station.  2033, the full Y, we are going to see some very real 

problems at Euston by then unless we have some plans to alleviate those. 

 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Let us say we get Crossrail 2 funded.  Fantastic.  What is next?  Do we need Crossrail 3?  

Do we need to be thinking about where that goes?  Do we need to be prioritising investment in other 

infrastructure?  Does anyone have any thoughts on that? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  I would just reiterate the 

point that it is less glamorous but metroising the south London rail network would be the thing. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That would be the priority? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  It does involve some 

investment.  For things like the Streatham interchange, we could look for funding from developers.  You could 

see that happening.  Making much better use of what is quite an intensive rail network in London feels like the 

big priority.  It is less glamorous than Crossrail 3 would be, but it is the thing that is most important.  Then the 

things we have talked about around accessibility and so on in terms of making the system more usable are 

collectively big-ticket items but they do make a big difference.  Orbital bus links across outer London linking 

into the rail network are things that would make a big difference.  It is easy to just focus on the big projects 

without looking at those things. 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton, and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  I could not agree more.  We have to think about Crossrail 2’s development 

horizon.  It is not going to be in the next decades.  It would not even be built.  In the meantime, we have the 

projections coming from the Mayor in terms of the population growth which we have already identified and a 

remedial requirement for infrastructure improvement. 

 

The original agreement which was signed by [The Rt. Hon] Patrick McLoughlin [MP, former Secretary of State 

for Transport] and the previous Mayor envisaged that south London metroisation would be broadly cost-

neutral in the context of being able to achieve the investment requirement.  That could be done now, and the 

opportunity exists in terms of the refranchising arrangements that are coming forward quite quickly.  We have 

lost it for South West Trains, but ultimately for the south London franchises it could be done now.  In addition 

to that, I would argue or contend that the current performance of that franchise would merit some intervention 

from the Secretary of State to bring that date earlier.  That could then, as a consequence, be quite easily - says 

he - allocated to the Mayor for responsibility for implementing it now.  That would make a considerable 

improvement in the quality of life of residents in south London.  It would enable confidence from the 

development industry to invest.  It would allow us then to make progress in relation to our economic ambitions 

Page 24



 

 

 

and probably half of the quantum of development expected for Crossrail 2 in south London would be 

developed as a consequence of more reliability in the existing infrastructure. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It is frustrating to all of us here that [The Rt. Hon] Chris Grayling [MP, Secretary of State 

for Transport] reneged on that agreement.  Probably, the next suburban rail line to be devolved will not be in 

south London at all, it will be another line in north London, not that we are opposed to that at all. 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton, and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  Exactly.  If I may make one slightly ... I am thinking about how to put this.  

It is even more egregious given the fact that Chris Grayling’s constituency is Sutton and Kingston and the 

transport infrastructure of his own residents is being impacted because the terminus for a lot of these routes 

that come through south London are in Epsom, Newham and those areas, and so the residents in those parts 

of the close neighbours in Surrey are desperate for this change to happen equally.  We know that from our own 

analysis in relation to their input and I work with our neighbouring authorities in Surrey, East Sussex and West 

Sussex. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  There is an opportunity for 

TfL and the Mayor to work with the other mayors, the combined authorities and the subnational transport 

bodies to make this argument.  Andy Street, Mayor of the West Midlands, is at the centre of something called 

West Midlands Railway, which would be like TfL and the surrounding counties getting together.  West 

Midlands Railway runs from Hereford to Crewe but with the Birmingham network at the centre of it.  

Andy Street has made no secret of the fact that he wants much more control over that network than he 

currently has under the new franchise.  Therefore, there are opportunities for networking with Wales, Scotland, 

the North of England and others to talk about and to put pressure on central Government to hand over control 

over a lot of the local rail network to local bodies. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That might be the way to secure it, being not just about London, which 

is always -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Absolutely. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Just picking up on something that Stephen said earlier about the importance of 

thinking about healthy streets and tackling problems like air pollution in relation to rail, and also thinking 

about how a lot of what has been discussed so far has been about getting people from outer London into the 

centre.  On the Economy Committee here on the Assembly we have been looking at how the Mayor’s Culture 

Strategy has been helping to develop local economies in outer London.  We are talking also about getting 

people to outer London. 

 

I just wondered whether any one, particularly possibly Helena, with the ideas of aging populations and people 

living their lives differently in terms of their working practices, could expand a bit more on the importance of 

rail stations being properly connected into the local areas to help reduce the car dependence.  If when you get 

to the place you are going the only way you can get anywhere is by car or you feel like that because the roads 

are so hostile and unpleasant, that slightly undermines the networking that the rails can provide. 

 

Dr Helena Titheridge (Senior Lecturer, Department of Civil, Environmental and Geomatic 

Engineering, University College London):  You are quite right.  It does make a big difference.  Coming to 

mind in terms of things like local economies are things like the culture area that is being developed at 

Wealdstone, which is meant to be attracting people outwards to that area as a new employment area.  There 

Page 25



 

 

 

are all sorts of local facilities, not forgetting where our hospitals are, where the crown courts are, that attract 

people from across London in terms of lawyers, friends and family, as well as patients, for longer journeys.  

They will be looking to use the rail system to get there.  It is incredibly important that we think about this 

complexity of flows.  We do not understand enough about them yet and how they are going to change 

because we do not quite know enough about how working practices will truly grow and what will not, but we 

certainly need to do more to think about how we integrate those into the rail system, whether that is better 

bus interchanges around railway stations, thinking about changing how we balance the rail system so that is as 

attractive to travel outwards as it is to travel inwards. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Certainly the experience of turning up to outer London rail stations, unless you have 

Citymapper and your phone is charged up, there may be no staff at the station and there is no sense of how 

you connect then into the area that you are going to. 

 

Dr Helena Titheridge (Senior Lecturer, Department of Civil, Environmental and Geomatic 

Engineering, University College London):  Yes, often to multiple exits with no indication even of which 

one is the right one for you. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Indeed. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  I mentioned earlier the idea 

of fixing the link and seeing stations as transport hubs or gateways to surrounding communities.  A practical 

suggestion that the Committee might make would be for TfL to take one of the Overground stations that it 

now controls and possibly some of the Crossrail stations in outer London, one or two of them, and do a 

practical investment in those just to see how Healthy Streets as a philosophy could be applied to those outer 

London stations and just show what can be done, much in the way the Mini-Hollands did on cycling and 

walking in outer London, to do something practical.  I suspect there would be a queue of boroughs wanting to 

work with TfL on that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes.  Niall is already sitting in the queue. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  That feels like something 

that would practically take that forward. 

 

If I can just come back to the West London Orbital, there are opportunities there because some of that is about 

using freight and other underused lines.  I mentioned when I last came to the Committee about the concept of 

a workplace parking levy.  Hounslow has raised that as one option for paying for the reintroduction of 

passenger services on the freight line from Southall to Brentford.  There is some willingness among the 

business community around the Golden Mile at Brentford or to consider something like that because, as David 

[Leam] said, no businesses like paying more for things, but if they can see tangible benefits from something 

like that, it feels like a solution for that area, which is very car-dependent and the public transport there is not 

brilliant.  Providing a link into Crossrail in fact at Southall feels like something that could happen.  A workplace 

parking levy, as piloted in Nottingham, could be something that would make a difference.  It would be useful 

for TfL to work with Hounslow and the other boroughs, talking about the west London metro, to see whether 

something like that levy might work. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Presumably, also, I do not know whether Oxford Street buses are still going to be 

heading towards outer London, but thinking about if there is extra bus capacity to make sure that it connects 

with these stations so that they become more usable. 

Page 26



 

 

 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Of course, I accept the case for south London, but also, as Niall particularly will 

know, there are parts of north London that are barren as far as Tube networks are concerned.  The Great 

Northern line franchise is up in 2021.  We had the Gibb Report [Chris Gibb, Changes to Improve the 

Performance of the Southern Network and Train Services and Restore Passenger Confidence, 2017] last year 

that recommended devolution to TfL.  I was just going to ask Stephen, really.  You have talked about how, if 

the services are devolved, they are more accountable, more locally focused and have a better quality of service.  

We talked about planning that as well.  Have you seen benefits of that happening, particularly with outer 

London boroughs? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  It is five years old now, the 

report, but we did do a report that looked at London Overground and Merseyrail and compared and contrasted 

what happened before those services were devolved - in terms of the quality of the service, the frequency, 

investment and stations - with what has happened since.  There is a myth about London Overground that that 

was great because they had lots of investment.  Actually, for the first few years they did not get lots of 

investment and their performance and punctuality went up because the contract incentivised the operator to 

control things the operator can do, which is to get the trains out and to manage the stations properly, and it 

took away some of the issues around revenue and so on that bedevilled some of the other wider arguments. 

 

This has shown to work.  It has worked elsewhere.  There is a very strong case for developing the Great 

Northern services, as the Gibb Report recognised.  Then there is a discussion to be had about, within what is 

now the GTR franchise, what happens to south London.  We are strong supporters of this.  There is an 

evidence base that actually, on the whole, devolved rail works.  As I said, Merseyrail has had no investment and 

has some of the oldest trains in the entire country.  It still does well and is now looking at ordering a new fleet 

of trains which will maintain staffing of trains and stations.  They will be genuinely accessible on what is partly 

as old a network as some of the London rail network is. 

 

My point is that devolution works and there are opportunities for TfL and other authorities to learn from each 

other. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Wonderful.  Chair, just so you are aware, the Mayor is on his way to Liverpool today 

to meet the other regional mayors.  I like the idea that that should be on their future agenda. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We might want to suggest that.  Lovely.  Thank you.   

 

David Kurten AM:  If I could ask Stephen about the digital railway, which we have all talked a bit about so 

far, you mentioned the Jubilee line, which is fantastic now because there are 36 trains an hour in the peak.  

This digital railway programme idea of upgrading the signalling and so on which has happened in some of 

those lines and the Underground, do you think it is possible that that can happen all over the whole rail 

network?  Can it be implemented and what would its effects be, ultimately? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  I am not a technology 

specialist, but hidden by the mess that has been the Thameslink timetable, has been in fact that they have 

made a digital railway or automatic train operation work on that central core for the first time on any main line 

railway anywhere in Europe.  All credit to Network Rail for that.  They have shown that they can make it work 

on a mainline railway. 

 

Page 27



 

 

 

The key to digital railway - and if you are going to see Network Rail in a few weeks, then you can ask them - is 

to work out the benefits and to turn this into a programme that brings real benefits for users and operators 

and communities around the rail network in terms of more frequency, more reliability and something that is 

genuinely more usable.  That is what the technology promises because it removes a lot of the signalling, as has 

happened on the Underground lines.  It is worth mentioning that the person in charge now at Network Rail of 

the digital railway was responsible for the digital railway for the Jubilee, Victoria and Northern line changes.  

He does know what he is talking about. 

 

The person responsible now, David Waboso [CBE] of Network Rail, for the digital railway was the person at 

London Underground responsible for that, and so he does know what he is talking about.  The question is 

whether he has the team around him to make this work and whether Network Rail can turn this from a slogan 

into something that has meaningful benefits across the network in terms of frequency, reliability and speed. 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  The line to ask Network Rail about very explicitly 

would be the Brighton Main Line.  That seems to be the one that is in the frame and at the top of the list for 

potential upgrades to the digital railway approach.  As Stephen says, the critical thing is to put some flesh on 

the bones of this, really.  There is no doubt that that is a section of the commuter rail network into London 

that is going to need some significant enhancements over the next decade or so.  There is a considerable 

amount of uncertainty about where Network Rail will be investing in upgrades and enhancements over the 

2020s and this strikes me as one of those that it would be good to get some clarity and commitment to. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Just one other thing, slightly different.  We have mentioned infrastructure, signalling and 

metroisation, but are there any other things that we may have missed that you think would be good 

improvements to the rail network that we have not mentioned yet?  If not, do not worry. 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton, and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  I would suggest that the Committee might want to think about the shape 

of the ask, if you will, or the recommendations in the short, medium and longer terms because the 

infrastructure interventions that are required are not always the heavy lifting gear.  Some of them are quite 

simple.  Some of them are about attitudes and prioritisation within existing resources, rather than new 

resources.  Asking Network Rail about that would be very helpful. 

 

This is also a toast to Joanne McCartney’s [AM] point about policy integration.  We should be aiming to get 

the economic benefits and the access benefits and the cultural benefits and implementing safe streets and 

good growth.  That should be a part of this single package of intervention. 

 

One of the things which happens with transport infrastructure is that it is seen as transport infrastructure and 

the capital is deployed for that purpose.  It has to have other broader impacts across multiple policy objectives 

for it to be really successful.  That is entirely achievable.  Network Rail, in my experience, tends to see it as 

simply as a package of interventions within their estate, rather than the broader impacts across the 

communities they serve. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Fantastic.  Could I just ask David?  In terms of digital railway, is there 

anywhere else in the world where they are doing this that we should be looking to as good practice?  Who 

would write to us afterwards if you want to have a think about it? 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  We will have a think, yes. 

 

Page 28



 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  There are other places that have great railway systems where it is really 

tried and tested.  Maybe you could put your thinking hat on and -- 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  Interestingly, this was one of the ones.  New York is 

looking to London to copy the experience of the modernisation programme.  We forget that we have done it. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  On the Tube, yes, but on the rail networks, is there anywhere else 

leading the way on this? 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  I will reflect on that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Brilliant.  Thank you.  Let us look at a rail strategy for London.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  The question is: will there ever be a common one that everyone agrees on?  What is 

clear is that it is so complex and there are so many players involved in delivering rail services in London.  I was 

very struck by what Stephen said earlier and I wrote it down.  He said that the join-up between transport and 

planning in government has been traditionally bad. 

 

I am just wondering.  What do we need to do make sure that the Government, Network Rail, operators, TfL and 

everyone really works together to develop that strategic rail infrastructure for London? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  You could look to what 

Scotland has.  They have an alliance in which the person running the ScotRail trains is also running the 

Network Rail zone up there.  What the Scottish Government has done with that within the ScotRail franchise 

has been to look at major development around the Scottish railway stations so that there is a commitment.  For 

example, at Dundee there is a big station development which is turning the station around, looking outwards 

and so on.  They have used the alliance between the train operator and Network Rail to move towards the 

wider benefits that Niall was talking about earlier.  That would be a practical way forward. 

 

Again, it is looking for practicalities as opposed to big statements that people sign up to and doing some 

experimental partnerships around some stations.  Network Rail keeps saying that they want lots of third-party 

funding.  Maybe TfL and the Mayor can say to Network Rail - and after all, as Chair he has had some 

association with London in the past - “Let us try something in London.  Let us do some experiments around 

some stations to show how a partnership can work”.  Again, West Midlands is doing that.  They have a station 

partnership.  Greater Manchester talked about a station partnership but [the Rt. Hon] Chris Grayling [MP, 

Secretary of State for Transport] told them they could not have one and so they are going back and looking at 

it again.  There are things you can learn that TfL - and I know it does talk to these other authorities - can do to 

make something happen.  This is about having a shared aim at a big pan-London level for what should happen 

to rail across the piece.  It is about making that work on the ground in the way that Niall has been talking 

about to make joint development happen. 

 

Elsewhere, there have been initiatives.  Homes England is doing work with Network Rail on some stations at 

places like York and Taunton to use land around the stations and bring it back into use.  Maybe, given that 

there has been that join-up there, there is an opportunity to bring in Homes England as an enabler of some of 

those wider developments that people want to see happen. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Do we need a London rail board? 

 

Page 29



 

 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  The Centre for London 

talked about creating Rail South, which was, as Niall has said, the south London boroughs with Kent, Surrey, 

West and East Sussex and so on.  There is an opportunity to think about that.  As I have said, West Midlands 

Railway exists.  Transport for the North exists.  There are joint groupings of local authorities with some control 

over their local rail network, not as much as they want.  There are bodies in place that look like that.  As I said, 

Hertfordshire proposed such a board at one point.  There would be an opportunity for talking to the 

surrounding authorities - it sounds like Niall’s grouping already is doing that - to see what the opportunities 

are for making something practical happen. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  What I have gathered today is that nobody thinks that at the moment we plan our 

rail services to tie up appropriately with where we need employment, where we need housing and those other 

strategy imperatives.  If we had this board or grouping or partnership, what other powers or what ability would 

they need?  We have heard about the data they collect and how they plan.  It was Stephen [Joseph] or David 

[Leam] who talked about how you plan trains, but it seems to be irrespective of what is happening with regards 

to those other priorities.  What else would need to happen? 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton, and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  I am really pleased we are referring to the Centre for London report, which 

looked at that, and that is becoming a reality now with a draft national transport strategy which was just 

published by the Transport for the South East Board, in terms of looking at the integration of all transport 

mechanism.  The rail board would also have to be thinking about other means of accessibility and mobility.  It 

would be about integrated seamless services. 

 

Part of the concern, for example, in south London is having the complex network that we have.  The 

interchange issues can be as much of a frustration as the trains themselves because you are dependent on the 

reliability of unreliable networks.  As a consequence of that, a transport board, for example, a rail board for 

south London and the greater south east, could look at that integration and look at planning more effectively 

which prioritises the needs of the urban requirements for transport as well as the interurban requirements.  

That does not happen at the moment. 

 

A lot of capacity in there in south London is occupied by people commuting from outside London and, 

therefore, occupying the space that is available at the moment.  The board is able and could look at far more 

integrated transport planning but also integrated ticketing to enable that to happen. 

 

The other thing which would also be incredibly important to do is identify the prioritisation for infrastructure 

because there is a clamour for a lot of infrastructure investment where there needs to be some prioritisation.  

My colleague has said that going to the Government and saying you have 20 priorities, you are not going to 

get any of them.  Basically, we need to have a mature debate in a properly democratically accountable body 

which enables the trade-offs to be heard and decisions to be made about what comes first.  That board will be 

absolutely essential. 

 

Our own conversations with our colleagues in the subnational Transport Board for the South East is beginning 

to talk about that and beginning to think about what the functions of economic areas we share are in order 

that we can make those priority investments.  For example, the Brighton Main Line is absolutely pivotal to the 

functioning of the Gatwick Diamond and absolutely pivotal to the infrastructure requirement for south London 

and to optimise localisation.  That is absolutely necessary in order that we can get better accessibility.  That 

transport board could lobby and seek the investment requirement to make that happen. 

 

Page 30



 

 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Obviously, this is a more formal structure than exists at the moment.  Is there any 

indication from the DfT that it would welcome such an organisation? 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  My view is the structure does exist and that we should not be asking for 

permission.  We should be working collaboratively to do it. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  That was my next question. 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  We should just get on with it and getting the coalition which is already 

prime because if you do read the draft strategy for the south east for transport, it really does echo and chime 

with the Mayor’s own Transport Strategy.  The synergies are already there; it needs politically joining up. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  May I address this to Niall and Stephen [Joseph] and David [Leam] to some extent?  I just 

want to investigate the theme that my colleague Joanne [McCartney AM] brought here about the sub-regional 

transport board or rail board.  What are the bars to making it happen?  If you are saying that the mechanisms 

are there, why does it not exist, at least informally?  What are the bars? 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  The mechanism is only recently there with the establishment of the sub-

national transport boards.  That is important and working with our colleagues in the greater south east to 

enable that to be its function.  In effect, it is a prototype moving towards a TfL-like structure, but it is not 

there at the moment.  They have strategic responsibilities rather than delivery responsibilities at the moment. 

 

As I said, rather than asking for permission, we need to use what we have got to come forward with a plan of 

action to get the coalition of the political interest - because the political interests are really diverse, they 

represent all the political interests - and a need is identified and clear to absolutely ask and demand for 

devolution and require it to happen to make sure the economic powerhouse, which is our region and that wider 

region around us, can absolutely drive the economy of the UK.  That is essentially what this is all about.  

Getting that optimised transport infrastructure is critical to the future of the UK, particularly in the context of 

post-Brexit world because we cannot have sub-optimised infrastructure which is not enabling people to realise 

their ambitions and the economic potential of our regions. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  I just make one comment 

about this.  Transport for the North is already a subnational transport body which has statutory status.  In a 

way, what Transport for the South East wants to do is to move in that direction towards a statutory status. 

 

I just make one comment or a note of caution, really.  It is important that in creating these big subnational 

bodies that accountability and transparency is not left behind.  There is a bit of a tendency for a group thing to 

appear and for people just to roll to each other.  We have done some work for Transport for the North in terms 

of engaging the wider community, wider stakeholders, which I think they found very valuable because they 

have got insights over what people thought was important that they would not otherwise have.  It is very 

important that in the context of what we are talking about here that rail users of all sorts and people who 

might be rail users but are not at the moment because they find it very difficult to use the system, feel that 

their voice is being heard on the London Regional Rail Board or some such party, therefore, it does not feel out 

of touch.  We have enough of that with the DfT managing rail franchises.  We need to make sure that anything 

that replaces it talks to the wider world. 

Page 31



 

 

 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  If you would just indulge me a while longer, is it obvious then which bodies should be on 

this body and who should overlook that body?  To a certain extent, the big players are obvious, but your 

comment leads me to believe that there may be other bodies who it is not obvious straightaway should be 

involved for transparency reasons, just for reach, therefore, all the decisions, planning, etc, are in that room. 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  My view there is that it has to be democratically accountable.  It would be 

because of what I do and it has to be representative of the communities it serves.  Therefore, whether it be 

representatives from the Mayor and TfL and the Assembly, it also has to engage the boroughs, the counties 

and the districts. 

 

I also echo the point about the interest groups in terms of the users.  There must be a mechanism for engaging 

across the piece, that collaboration, so there is accountability in real time as well as in periodic time.  When 

people go to the ballot box, there has to be a continuous process of being completely transparent.  That is 

really important because of the previous point I made about ‘we cannot do everything’.  Someone is going to 

have to wait and when people have to wait for stuff, they need to know why they are waiting and what the 

priority is.  We have a transparency obligation and a duty to explain it. 

 

At the moment, half the problem is nobody understands why Network Rail makes any of the decision they do 

unless they are really technically enabled.  That is really important in terms of enabling communities to 

understand the dilemmas and the trade-offs in terms of investment within the limited resources we have. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Has anybody done the work at looking at the membership of our equivalent body or is it 

just a case of copying what is happening in the West Midlands and in the North? 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  It is early. It is just starting.  The discussions are starting now.  That is a 

good idea and it needs airing and debating. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  The Centre for London 

work, turning south London orange, was a good start in this direction. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It did build on some work we had done on the Assembly, I should add.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  For everything that has been said, it sounds like one of the major problems over the years 

has been the fragmentation of the railways and, for many years, the prevailing wisdom, not just in this country 

but also something that the European Union has been pushing, has been the separation of operation from 

infrastructure.  Are you saying that we need to be going the other way now and looking much more at how we 

can integrate people who operate the trains with the people who are running the track? 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  I am saying that there does 

need to be better integration.  There was a South West Trains alliance which did not work well.  As I say, 

Scotland does seem to have made it work and I am suggesting that there might be some learning from that, 

not least because of what the Scottish Government seems to have done in terms of joining up the railways to 

the wider objectives the Scottish Government have.  Indeed, in their case of reopening the rail line to the 

borders which missed every cost benefit analysis going but has still been enormously successful. 

 

Page 32



 

 

 

Tom Copley AM:  There is a bit of an accountability issue.  Whenever something goes wrong, like the 

Thameslink or something like that, the train operators blame Network Rail and Network Rail blames the train 

operators.  At least on London Underground, they come in here and one person sits there, and they cannot 

really blame anybody else because they run the trains and they maintain the track. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  All I am saying is it is 

possible to create a more accountable and better joined up railway without going for complete and full 

integration.  It is possible to do that.  There are plenty of models around. 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  You are thinking about it in exactly the right sort of 

way.  Interestingly, in terms of the strategy, we have a pretty good strategy in London.  It is clear who is 

accountable for what.  The biggest challenges and weaknesses and failings are as we get further away; over the 

past year, where we have seen the biggest of them have been at the Centre, to be perfectly honest.  The lack 

of clarity about precisely who is coordinating and planning and leading, the problems on Thameslink and 

Northern Rail have been failures of accountability, failures in planning, failures of coordination and a lot of 

those go right back to the Centre, to be perfectly honest.   

 

I endorse what others have said about part of the answer being a bit of localisation.  From a business 

perspective, we have also supported that.  The Mayor’s Transport Strategy identifies specific services and that 

is the right way of thinking of it, not in the big, broad-brush ideological terms but identifying those suburban 

services; it would make a real difference and would be possible.  We are on to it now and it is reassuring that 

that is more what the Mayor and TfL are talking about now, specific things.  I do not hear the Mayor talking 

about taking over Thameslink as much now which must be a tremendous relief to Mike Brown [MVO, 

Commissioner of TfL]; be careful what you wish for on those things.  That is where the biggest challenges are. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  They would need to break up the service, would they not? 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  They would. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Even the Mayor would take part of it, but yes. 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  It is that accountability and that is the right way of 

thinking of it rather than necessarily the ownership which is where a lot of the public debate goes to.  The idea 

that what we need right now is more central and DfT control over everything is the wrong way of thinking 

about it.  It is the accountability that is the critical thing. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Interestingly, someone has dug up a transcript from three years ago when Peter Hendy was 

the TfL Commissioner and sat here in front of us saying that he never thought Thameslink was going to work 

because it was too complicated.  You cannot put that many trains to that many destinations through central 

London. 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  Over-optimism and group thinking, the fear of 

reporting the truth onwards and centrally.  That is what seems to have happened. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We have seen that with Network Rail and other projects like the 

Barking to Gospel Oak electrification.  They are just not admitting that they were behind, and things have not 

Page 33



 

 

 

happened even though you could see it.  There is obviously a culture there.  Let us move on to look at funding 

now which has come up. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  David, you are London First.  You will have some views on this one in particular.  Something 

I am very interested in is the funding infrastructure out of land value capture generally and land value tax 

specifically.  How do you think that London rail improvement should be paid for, particularly now that London 

is going to be asked for big infrastructure projects, to find more of the money ourselves rather than central 

Government? 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  The future is a mixed funding package, a bit like 

Crossrail.  There will need to be a continued role for some central Government grant, whether that comes 

through DfT or Network Rail, and it is important that we continue to make and champion the case for that.  

We do have to be realistic.  That is not going to do all the job.  Partly, some additional localisation again might 

help.  The Treasury will always be suspicious of localising further taxational revenue streams but where we can 

make a convincing case that by doing that we are also strengthening the incentives to go for growth, that 

there can be benefits around that.  Where you are giving London government and London boroughs, if they 

are directly benefiting from some of these revenue streams, then they have a much stronger incentive to make 

some of the local choices and trade-offs that would allow that. 

 

Beyond that, as I said, Londoners in different forms are going to have to contribute in some way whether that 

is through the fares they pay, some of the local taxes or through business taxes.  I am not delighted about that 

but realistically, we have to think of that as part of the package.  If we look at cities around the world, that is 

also what is happening there, whether it is in France or in North America, people are coming to the conclusion 

that if you want better infrastructure, you have to make a contribution towards it.  We should continue to be a 

bit ambitious and creative about thinking about things that we have not yet solved. 

 

Value capture, in principal, there are good reasons for seeing it as being the right thing to do.  Around 

transport schemes, for example, there are clearly very significant value uplifts that accrue to particular 

residents, to be perfectly honest, who get windfall uplifts.  The challenge we have already had is finding ways 

of capturing that because, of course, as soon as we start to do that, it becomes very visible to people and they 

do not feel it to be just.  We tend to get political backlashes against that.  They just see it suddenly being an 

additional tax bill for them.  There is a gap at the practical level. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  As well, we have had the reports in the media saying TfL are going to bring a transport 

property charge.  Presumably that will be something like that which is collected out of an additional band on 

council tax or something like that or part of the Mayor’s precept or something. 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  Typically, you can do these things as annual charges 

or when transactions take place. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Do you think it is right, as well, because this did not happen on Crossrail, but the 

authorities outside of London that benefit themselves should also be asked to contribute towards this given 

that London boroughs will probably be asked to contribute towards this or people living in London? 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  That is exactly right and if you look at Crossrail 2, 

between a third and 40% of the benefits were accruing to people outside London.  The idea that it is only 

London that should be contributing to this, and when we talk about the London contribution, we should think 

a bit more as a sort of contribution from the direct beneficiaries there.  Certainly, outside London, you run into 

Page 34



 

 

 

some governance challenges inevitably.  It is slightly easier to do things on a Greater London Authority (GLA) 

level as soon as you are looking at adding lots of additional districts.  Absolutely, those people who are 

benefiting outside London should also contribute towards it. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Helena, do you have any thoughts on how we should fund transport infrastructure in the 

future? 

 

Dr Helena Titheridge (Senior Lecturer, Department of Civil, Environmental and Geomatic 

Engineering, University College London):  I am not a huge expert in this.  Just a cautionary note: value 

capture and passing that on to residents is an obvious way of doing it.  It is making sure that given all the 

pressures of the London housing market, we are not pricing people out of the market and that is not just 

homeowners.  We have to remember that a large proportion of people also rent and anything that is passed on 

to landlords will be passed down to tenants.  It needs to be a carefully thought through structured approach if 

there is any taxation passed on to residents.  I agree; residents should be contributing as part of the 

opportunity that accessibility affords them of a better transport system, even if they are not direct users. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  A starting point for this is 

to make the point, which has not been where central Government has been, but for rail, there are wider 

benefits from having a good rail network.  For David’s [Leam] members, having an opportunity of getting 

people to work and so on.  I say that because the policies of successive governments have been to move the 

burden, the funding of the railways from taxpayers to fare payers.  They have been very successful in that.  

Fare payers would probably say that they do not feel they can see the benefits from this, particularly at the 

moment, but there are limits to that.  We have gone further than most other countries have done because we 

have not, I would argue, quantified and reckoned to pay for those wider benefits in terms of reduced 

congestion and pollution and so on from having a good rail network. 

 

A starting point, which is a good way to approach the spending review next year that David [Leam] referred to, 

is to make the case that there are wider benefits from having a good rail network.  Having said that, in terms of 

how you pay for that, the Mayor has talked about road user charging.  That would be a way, if some of that 

money went into a better rail network, before a hastily said better orbital bus link into that rail network to 

recognise the places that do not have railways, like my colleague over there.  That does look like a sensible 

proposition.  At the moment, we are faced with a situation where the Government is creating a road fund, 

Vehicle Excise Duty, none of which will come here, even though £500 million will be raised from London 

vehicle holders.  There is an inherent unfairness.  By the way, that is not just a London story; that is reflected 

elsewhere. 

 

There is road user charging but, as I have said already, there are more localised options.  For example, 

development funding around the interchanges to enable the localisation that we talked about, the workplace 

parking levy in Hounslow and so on.  There are a range of options and TfL are very across this in relation to 

looking at how other countries, other cities fund their public transport.  It is just a matter of seeing what will 

work. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  With road user charging, TfL would potentially be able to borrow against the future 

revenues in order to fund upfront improvements to services.  Just on the international front, do you have any 

examples you could give us from around the world of where other cities are doing this? 

 

Page 35



 

 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  Niall [Bolger] might refer 

to this, but the French experience has been the best in transport which is employers’ payroll taxes that pay for 

the trams and other things in Strasbourg and the other cities that you mentioned.  There are sales taxes, 

property levies.  The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) system was financed by a property tax 

within a quarter mile radius of every station.  There is plenty of this around in place.  Of course, we have it 

here, the Nine Elms Northern Line extension that is being funded through business rate uplifts and the 

Crossrail experience as well.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  I do not know if you have anything you can send us, if there is a form you could send us of 

international examples.  It might be quite interesting. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  We had a survey done a 

few years ago.  I could send you that. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Brilliant; that will be very useful.  Thank you. 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  This is a real live issue for us.  I will talk about the tram extension and 

what we are doing about that in a moment, but the issue relating to taxation in terms of relying on the council 

tax system to enable that to happen is, what my colleagues are saying, a blunt instrument and is very 

regressive and it will adversely impact on those who are least able to pay.  That is specifically a problem in 

relation to the coincidence between lack of accessibility to transport and poorer communities.  The expectation 

that poorer communities should pay for the regional infrastructure or national infrastructure and through the 

council tax is problematic. 

 

If you take that forward then, what are the solutions?  It has to be some of the examples that 

Stephen [Joseph] has just mentioned in relation to the land value capture, individual financing mechanisms 

such as road pricing but also in the context of this.  The example from Nottingham, which we have studied 

quite extensively, for the tram.  There was enormous community opposition to it and business opposition to it 

but the tangible benefits of the tram itself means that that is now going to continue.  They are using that 

mechanism for further infrastructure improvement beyond the tram. 

 

As a consequence of that, it seems a viable mechanism to pay for the city and the wider regions infrastructure 

requirements as being fairer because part of it is workplace parking, it has a positive impact in terms of the 

externalities, in terms of discouraging unnecessary car journeys.  It controls the use of land for car parking 

purposes and then becomes virtuous in relation to releasing more land for economic development purposes.  

Those are the sorts of arguments we need to learn from in terms of making this more acceptable. 

 

In the context of the tram, we have been in discussion with TfL.  We very much welcome the commitment of 

the Mayor’s Transport Strategy to investing a third of the cost.  A question for us is where the other two-thirds 

is going to come from.  The two boroughs who, to put it bluntly, are a bit skint at the moment, are having to 

prioritise some of the investment themselves from their own resources but that is not going to make it all.  We 

need to plug the gap in the context of what we need to do in terms of active conversation with the business 

community residents about how we fund it; importantly, about the trade-offs in relation to development. 

 

The expectation of the development is already imbedded in the tram extension.  As I mentioned earlier on, this 

is about remedial infrastructure.  This is not about enhancing an already well-served part of London.  This is 

also going to plug the gap for places that do not have access and really will have public transport accessibility 

Page 36



 

 

 

levels.  We will be expecting that discussion, that conversation to be about accepting more growth to enable 

that remedial infrastructure to be implemented in order that we can also improve it and future proof it for that 

growth in the communities.  It is a really tough discussion.  The financing mechanisms that will flow through 

that need to be dealt with as a public debate with all levels of government within London.  It cannot just be 

the boroughs doing that.  It has to be the Mayor, TfL and this Committee having those debates about how we 

finance it, whatever those mechanisms are. 

 

There is room also for designated areas and so opportunity areas.  A growth service example in Croydon, for 

example, which is using even more resources in relation to infrastructure improvement and we are also 

examining that for the support from Government in terms of a potential designated area for the London 

council hub to enable us to pay for some of the infrastructure requirements which is basically the land value 

capture in terms of bringing forward that investment and allowing us to recycle some of the business rates, 

expected revenue in order to pre-finance the infrastructure requirements.  There are active examples in London 

at the moment as well as the international ones. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I am glad you mentioned Nottingham.  I am a former Nottingham resident and the tram 

system is brilliant and they have a fantastic bus service.  They are one of the only cities that never privatised 

their buses.  They only take public ownership and it shows.  They are a really good example of an integrated 

transport system. 

 

I just wanted to ask finally, before I finish, if any of you have any thoughts on the opportunities and challenges 

of the new rail networks enhancement pipeline which sounds like a way the Government is trying to get 

financing for infrastructure without paying for it itself.   

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  There are some 

opportunities; really the things we have just talked about of looking at the developer and other finance 

packages to look through that pipeline.  We know there have been various proposals made.   Of course, there 

is a Heathrow southern access proposition which fits within that pipeline potentially. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes, it is quite interesting. 

 

Stephen Joseph (Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport):  We will have to see 

whether any of that can pass Treasury rules about additionality and pay off the public set borrowing because 

that has always been somebody you rock up to now for a lot of that kind of thing.  If they do and find a way 

around that, then it might be an opportunity for some of the schemes we have talked about to move in that 

direction. 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  I have a clear view on this, and that is whatever the 

game is, London should be playing it.  If there is a fund, let us find a way, let us make sure we find a couple of 

things that we can be putting forward to it.  The scheme that stands out for me at the moment as most likely 

to gain some success on that is the Heathrow Southern Rail; we are definitely proponents there.  That does 

look like a scheme that would strengthen public transport access to the railway from the south and would also 

provide some extra capacity and resilience for commuter rail as well.  That would be reliant on the Government 

agreeing to pay for that track and that track being available over time.  It does require some commitment, but 

it should generate additional traffic that will essentially pay for it.  That does look like a good proposition.  

Beyond that, it looks a bit thin, to be perfectly honest.  It would be nice to see some additional proposals 

beyond that. 

 

Page 37



 

 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  I am not sure if Tom touched on it, apologies, but just looking at 

the fact that my family are originally from Nigeria and you cannot get about in Nigeria and Lagos unless you 

have a car.  Sometimes when friends and family come and visit, from America as well or Africa, they comment 

on how great our transport system is in the UK, not just London, and the fact that you can move about.  I 

know this may be a little bit contentious and divides opinion, but something around a tourism tax would help 

fund some of that transport infrastructure.  Has anyone done any work or research in terms of London First or 

anyone else? 

 

David Leam (Infrastructure Director, London First):  I cannot remember who has done it, but it has been 

looked at periodically.  You are absolutely right.  Some other cities do these things.  On all these new taxes, the 

key thing is to look at city competitiveness in the round.  On the point of Stephen [Joseph], absolutely.  There 

are places that have payroll taxes and sales taxes.  I know various members of ours would be quite nervous 

about some of those because we probably have relatively higher employment and sales taxes relative to those 

jurisdictions.  It is important to look at it in the round.  The general principle of giving city leaders and 

boroughs more powers and more options; if the Mayor of London had a dozen potential levers to pull in terms 

of raising additional revenues, then they can think about what is most appropriate in their jurisdiction at any 

given time, given the economic conditions, given the sorts of schemes you are talking about.   

 

We had previously looked at a hotel tax in the context of Crossrail 2.  We felt it did not really fit with that 

because if you are raising money from that, it has to be going to something that is seen as directly relevant to 

it.  Crossrail 2, hotel tax, they were a bit abstract.  The general principle of finding additional powers for city 

leaders to be able to utilise is a sound one. 

 

Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton and Chief Executive Lead for Transport in 

the South London Partnership):  I believe that was a part of the debate in one of the devolution discussions 

which was previously held in relation to the example of tourist tax or hotel taxes and visitor taxation which was 

rejected by the Government.  It seems to me as if that is an obvious source of revenue which is marginal in 

terms of the total cost for a hotel room in London.  £1 a night when you are paying £250 is not going to be 

something which is going to break the bank. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Exactly, quite right.  Lovely.  That is a great place.  Thank you all so 

much for your contributions this morning.  It has been really appreciated. 

 

I know we have asked a couple of you for some further information but, Helena [Titheridge] particularly, we 

have not touched in as much detail on some of the work you have done around teleworking and 

teleconferencing and the impact on travel from your research.  If there is extra stuff you would like to send us, 

to feed in, we would be very grateful. 

 

Thank you, Niall [Bolger], Stephen [Joseph], Helena [Titheridge] and David [Leam]. Thank you very much. 

 

Page 38



 

 
 

Appendix 2 
 

London Assembly Transport Committee – 13 June 2018 
 

Transcript of Item 7 – London TravelWatch Performance Report and 
Recruitment  

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Wonderful.  All right.  Let us move on to London TravelWatch 

performance report and recruitment, item 6.  First of all, I welcome Arthur Leathley, Chair of London 

TravelWatch - great to see you again - and Janet Cooke, Chief Executive of TravelWatch.  Welcome today. 

 

First of all, we want to look at your performance and look at the report we have before us.  I know a number of 

Members had some questions.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you, Chair.  Just picking up on the Business Plan, we have seen the newer 

version that came after the version we saw last October [2017].  I have been looking through and there are 

about 20 or 21 actions that were due for completion at the end of quarter 4 of 2017/18.  I am just wondering 

how many of those have been completed.   

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  You are talking about the Business Activity Update 

that we sent, the informal one -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes.  That is it, yes.   

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  -- not our Business Plan for the year that we are 

now in.   

 

Apart from what we updated the Committee on, which was that our work around station travel planning had 

slipped because of lack of staff - we are going to be picking that up later in the month and into July - 

everything else is broadly on course. 

 

There have been a few changes; for example, our office accommodation.  At the time we sent the report to you 

we said we had put an offer in on premises.  That one fell through because the landlord made a separate deal 

elsewhere but, having said that, we have now put an offer in and literally as of yesterday we have heads of 

terms.  We are about to start our due diligence and think we can probably save about 20% to 25% on our 

current costs.  We still have to evaluate it.  Other than that, we are on course. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That is good news about the accommodation.  You say that you are on course.  This 

was updated in February [2018] and quite a lot of the things on it were not completed at that point.  Are you 

saying that between February and now, there are things that are not complete on here that are now?   

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Caroline, I am so sorry.  We met with Keith [Prince 

AM] and Caroline [Pidgeon MBE AM] in the meanwhile and we gave them an updated version, which we 

updated in April [2018].  I am sorry, that is what I am referring to.   

 

Everything that we were talking about was broadly on course.  The thing that we had delays on was promoting 

work around station travel planning and the money that train companies are meant to be putting into travel to 

Page 39



 

 
 

stations to work on that.  That had slipped, along with our small stations work, because we had been 

short-staffed.  Once again, that we are picking up in July when we have another member of staff starting in 

our policy team.  That was the key policy area where we had slipped.   

 

Our Board was expecting to get an official request from London Overground to potentially vary some of the 

ticket office opening hours, which I believe is something in their franchise.  That slipped slightly because they 

decided to delay doing that until after the local elections.  We have not yet received a request for that from 

them so we have not done that piece of work.  That is a response to them.  We are expecting we will get a 

request from them fairly soon on that one.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Just to take one at random, there is an audit with the train operating companies of 

their station travel plans - which fits into something we had just been talking about earlier - and analysing how 

those fit with the aspirations for improved station access by walking and cycling, particularly in outer London.  

What kind of output would there have been for that audit? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  That is the one I said has slipped but we will be 

picking up in July.  We have done the initial work around looking at what station travel planning is aiming to 

achieve.  What we now need to do is have detailed discussions with each of the train companies to see what 

they are planning to do, what they should be doing and what they have done, and then see how we bring 

together what is in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy with what the train companies should be doing as well.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  You are expecting that work to be completed in July? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  No, we are expecting that work to start in July and 

to run through, I would say, for another few months.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK.  Yes, that is quite a slip. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes.  That was the main slippage in terms of our 

policy team.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK, but other things - the pulling together of updated statistics about major airports, 

those kinds of things - are all done? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  That is in hand, yes.  We are on course with that.  

We have the new statistics and we are going to be updating our reports ready for publication by September 

[2018].   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK, so the statistics part is done and then the report will be completed in September.  

Yes.  The other thing I was particularly interested in was the agreeing of the objectives for Board members.  

Has that been completed? 

 

Arthur Leathley (Chair, London TravelWatch):  Yes.  I can talk to that.  We have set out the objectives for 

the Board generally and for individual Board members for the year. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That is all -- 

 

Page 40



 

 
 

Arthur Leathley (Chair, London TravelWatch):  That is completed.  We have been through a complete 

process. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That is sorted.  That is very good to hear.  Of the things that were unable to be 

completed, there was the train access travel planning.  Was there anything else that was unable to be 

completed? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We had planned to promote rail devolution in local 

terms when we meet with the Transport Minister.  That meeting we have not been able to get yet.  We have it 

in a few weeks’ time.  That is delayed through circumstances beyond our control.  We talked about the London 

Overground ticket office requests.   

 

There is also our bus station standards piece of good practice work.  Recognising that these are major 

interchanges where there is very little laid down, we have been doing some work to demonstrate what we think 

good practice is around bus stations.  That work has been slightly delayed once again through the staffing 

shortage.  However, that is in hand and we are hoping to have something we can publish in the next two 

months.  We have a draft report but our Board need to sign it off and it then needs a couple of iterations.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Are these staffing shortages something that is now resolved or is that an ongoing 

situation? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  As of two weeks’ time we will be fully staffed in 

our policy team, back to what we were a couple of years ago. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Great.  Thank you.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Arthur, as Chair, do you want to just give us a general update on 

business planning and how you are going to improve it to make it more transparent going forward? 

 

Arthur Leathley (Chair, London TravelWatch):  Yes, thank you, Caroline.  First of all I would like to say, 

looking back over the last year, that Stephen Locke was Chair for much of the period and I would just like to 

extend my gratitude to him for helping with the handover, which was pretty smooth, and also for the work that 

he has done over just over four years.   

 

In terms of looking forward, I will be building on what Stephen and the Board have done before.  There is an 

element of transparency here.  We have talked about the Business Activity Plan, which we introduced at the 

start of this year.  The intention of that - just as you have picked up, Caroline [Russell AM] - is so we can show 

a rolling programme of work and we can see very clearly if there is slippage.  We have to be very open about 

that.  If anything has slipped for whatever reason, we can explain that.  Perhaps in the past it has not been as 

clear as that as to when work is expected to be completed.  Sometimes these are moveable feasts, I recognise 

that, but if there is any slippage then we can explain it fully to yourselves but also to other stakeholders if 

there has been any fall-back.  That is the basis of work.   

 

The Board now has developed it as part of their routine when they are speaking to Janet [Cooke] and other 

officers to delve into this and say, “When is this going to happen?” and to get an understanding.  We do 

recognise that things do fall behind for all sorts of reasons, elections and all sorts of other elements; we just 

have to know about that as it happens so there are no surprises come the end of the year.   

 

Page 41



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Janet, over the last year what do you think have been the couple of big 

successes you would say you have had as TravelWatch?  Where have you added value? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  The biggest success we have had in terms of 

influencing industry on behalf of passengers is probably the outcomes from the review we did of the impact on 

passengers of closing the ticket offices on the Underground.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are going to come on to that in detail in a second. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes.  I would say that is huge because that has 

been picked up by the national rail industry as well.  It is used as good practice.  Arthur can talk on that.   

 

I would also say our work on interchanges, promoting best practice at interchanges and influencing other 

people.  We have seen lots of little improvements as a result of things that we have been calling for.  

Interestingly, the latest version of the rail and Tube planning map - I do not know if you have looked at it - for 

the first time includes walkable interchanges.  That is huge.  We just saw it.  We have been asking for that and 

we were told these things could not change.  The things that local people know are now on the map.  We 

continue to influence through that.   

 

Getting people together to talk about best practice is getting more and more powerful.  We are getting good 

practice out there and people are taking it forward without us having to nag them.  I would say those are 

probably the two key areas, Caroline.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely, thank you.  Let us move on to ticket office closures.     

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you.  Good morning.  Talking about ticket office closures, you did some work that 

was paid for by Transport for London (TfL), I believe, and in your report you did a review of it.  My question is: 

are you happy with the outcomes?  Do you feel that TfL has taken on board all your recommendations or is it 

maybe a little bit too optimistic in your review there? 

 

Arthur Leathley (Chair, London TravelWatch):  Things have moved forward quite significantly even in just 

the last few weeks, Keith.  We were a bit frustrated, if I am honest.  Being new to it, we expected things to 

move rather more quickly than has actually happened.  We made a lot of points about visibility of staff, quality 

of information and accessibility for people.  We felt that was moving a bit slowly.   

 

We have heard just this week that many of the recommendations are now being implemented or have been, 

such as the number of staff in post, 325.  Making those staff available to passengers is absolutely crucial.  That 

is something that we pushed for and we thought that was not moving at the pace that we had hoped.  That 

certainly has now.   

 

In terms of visibility of staff, again we were told just yesterday that staff will have the tabards, probably in red.  

We thought that would be quite a simple thing to introduce.  It seems to have taken a bit longer, partly 

because they want reversible tabards that can then be used in an emergency situation.  They can be reversed 

to be orange.  Those sorts of things have just taken a bit longer than we had hoped.  In terms of help points, 

more help points are being introduced and again it is being made very clear to passengers where they are.   

 

If you had asked me three months ago, I would say I was very frustrated.  Now, there has been significant 

progress. 

Page 42



 

 
 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you.  Do you have any timelines?  They said that they are going to take on board 

what you have said around tabards, more staff and staff being more visible.  It is not so much about having 

more staff, it is really about people being able to find the staff.  Do you have any timelines on when they are 

going to deliver what they have promised? 

 

Arthur Leathley (Chair, London TravelWatch):  Janet, did you have a particular time on that? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We had Mark Wild [Managing Director, London 

Underground] to our Policy Committee yesterday and he gave us those, but I do not actually have those notes 

in front of me.  For the new uniforms, to make those visible, we are talking weeks, if not earlier.  We can 

confirm this to you, Caroline, after the meeting. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It would be helpful.   

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  The staff, I believe, are already in post. 

 

Arthur Leathley (Chair, London TravelWatch):  Yes, they are in place.   

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  They have been piloting making the focal points 

which take the place of the ticket office so passengers know where they can find someone if there is no one 

on.  They have been trialling those.  I would have to get back to you as to exactly what we have agreed with 

them in terms of when they will come through but you can certainly see them. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You do have some timelines?  You will share those with the Committee? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes, I will show them to you, yes.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Lovely.  OK.  Do you intend to evidence that what they are saying has happened?  Say, for 

instance, the new tabards will be out by the end of July.  Will you be doing any work to evidence that that has 

happened? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes, we will be doing informal monitoring.  That is 

part of the way our policy staff work.  They will be doing mystery shops of some of the key stations.  We do 

not have the resources and it would be inappropriate to do a complete check but we will be taking 

opportunities -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You spot check, do you not?  You spot check. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We go through Tube stations -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  If you are happy, you are happy.  If you are unhappy -- 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes.  We did agree with Mark Wild yesterday that 

we will have another formal catch-up on progress later in the year, I think it was. 

 

Arthur Leathley (Chair, London TravelWatch):  Yes.   

 

Page 43



 

 
 

Keith Prince AM:  I am sure if you let us know when the timelines are and when it is likely to happen -- 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes, we will do. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  -- every Member of the Committee will help you in spot-checking if the tabards are in 

place. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  This is great. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I am sure we can inspect tabards.  Lovely.  Let us look at finances.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you, Chair.  Just to be clear, you have a new office sorted? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We are about to start our due diligence, Tom, but 

hopefully we have it sorted.  This is the third one we have pursued.  I am fairly confident.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  What were the main reasons for your expenditure being £74,000 higher than budgeted in 

2017/18? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  As it is broken down there, we had not budgeted 

for the massive increase that we had in our rent from the fire service.  That is a key part of that.  We also 

overspent on our supplies and services budget.  Some of that we planned to because we did some research into 

the needs of season ticket holders and we had earmarked money from the previous year’s reserves to fund 

that.  It was about £17,000.  The balance of that was consultancy fees to support us in a staff restructure, 

which is funded from the money we received from the Rail Delivery Group.  That money helped to fund it.  We 

did say to them that if we are going to input to help to develop the Ombudsman scheme, we need to 

restructure because we cannot free up senior resources otherwise.  Those are two of the key reasons.  We had 

a change in our depreciation policy as well, but critically it is the accommodation and the extra supplies and 

services. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Assuming that all goes well with this office that you are hoping to sign a contract on, those 

extra costs will be coming to an end?  OK.  Those are one-off costs? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We hope for a breakeven budget this year.   

 

Arthur Leathley (Chair, London TravelWatch):  Absolutely.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  I am looking at your Finance Performance Sheet.  I do not know if you have one of those 

in front of you.  Can I start by asking, we have here, “Original budget”.  We then have a second column saying, 

“Revised budget”.  Why did you feel the need to have a revised budget? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We did not.  This just is something in terms of the 

convention of how we send our figures through to you.  We did not ever formally revise our budget for the 

year.  This is customary practice.  This is the way that we are required to put the figures in.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  Looking at the income section, under, “Other income”, you have put that you have 

£77,982 in other income.  That seems to have come from cost recovery for set-up of a new Ombudsman 

service and the review of the closure of TfL ticket offices.   

Page 44



 

 
 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  That, I am afraid, is a mistake.  What it should have 

said is what it says in paragraph 6.6 of the narrative, which is that we did get some additional income from the 

Greater London Authority (GLA) to offset the costs of maternity leave. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  All right.  I was going to say because, as far as I was aware you were aware of the ticket 

office income.   

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes.  No, that was last year.  I am really sorry.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  That answers that question. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We like to have something in there for you to find. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You had some money for maternity leave -- 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  -- and the set-up   Are you able to break those down? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  I do not have the exact figures but I think it was 

approximately £40,000 for the costs of the maternity leave and the balance was cost recovery from the Rail 

Delivery Group.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  £40,000 each, roughly.  That is fine.  I appreciate that you were hit around the back of the 

head with the accommodation costs, which you may or may not have seen coming, but you have managed to 

overspend in every single budget area. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  That, to me, suggests poor management. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We also had money coming in.  For example, part 

of the overspend on supplies and services was planned.  We had earmarked some of the surplus carried forward 

from the previous year because we had not finished the research on season ticket holders.  Part of that was 

planned.  The second part of it was essentially the consultancy costs associated with reviewing our staff. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Yes.  If it was planned, why was it not in the budget? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  It came during the year.  When we put the budget 

bid in we had not planned to do a staff restructure and we certainly had not planned to have to do it in the 

way that we did.  The fact that we had the additional money from the Rail Delivery Group meant that we could 

fund support to properly check our skills and do a lot of staff interviewing.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  I am a bit confused.  You are saying that you had some extra money in that you were not 

expecting to get in.   

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Not at the stage that we put our budget bid in, no. 

Page 45



 

 
 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Where is that shown?  You have an original budget. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  You chose not to do a revised budget when you knew you were having some more money 

in.  Then in your actual spend income, you have not shown that money coming in.   

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We have shown -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You said you had some money in.  You have not shown it in your accounts.  How does that 

happen? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We put it in under actual income.  Sorry, Keith.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  You put it under where? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  “Actual income”, £77,982. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It is the other income on the narrative. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  It is in the middle of that lot as well. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  It offsets it.  Sorry.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  What you said earlier was not true, then?  It was not £40,000 for the maternity leave and 

the rest of it was for the Ombudsman.  There was another item as well.  How much was that? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  The two items of cost recovery were the set-up of 

an Ombudsman scheme, the cost recovery, and the additional money we got from the GLA to offset our 

maternity costs.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is what you used to offset your increase in -- 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  All right.  Sorry, I did not quite understand what you were saying.   

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes.  Sorry. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That was why I said I was a bit confused.  All right.  That is fine.  That covers me. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You are OK with that? 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Yes.  No, that is fine.  No, sorry, there was one other question.  You probably do not have 

to under the accounting structures but you make reference to “reserves”.  I just wonder what your reserves are 

currently. 

 

Page 46



 

 
 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  The financial audit is just being finalised at the 

moment.  Our free reserves are in the region of £73,000 -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You have no reserves that are earmarked?   

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  -- and we have earmarked about £25,000 of that, 

part for training and development costs associated with the restructure and part for information technology 

(IT) costs, partly to update but particularly because of complying with the requirements of the changes to the 

data protection rules.  We have identified some changes we need to make, for example, to some of our IT 

programmes so that we can automatically anonymise data and things like that.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is very sensible.  Thank you. 

 

Arthur Leathley (Chair, London TravelWatch):  Just to reassure the Committee, the Board has looked at 

these and said for next year we want to have a reduced reserve.  In view of the accommodation changes and 

the IT changes as a one-off, it is reasonable. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you very much.  I do not see any other Members indicating.  

Thank you very much, Arthur and Janet, for coming before us today.  We are setting up a meeting with the 

Board and lead Members of this Committee - it will be open to all Members - to come and meet you all and 

have a catch-up. 

 

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 48



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Monday 25 June 2018 
Time: 11.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

 
Present: 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 An apology for absence was received from Shaun Bailey AM. 

 

1.2 During the discussion on the Govia Thameslink Railway timetable, the Chair welcomed to the 

public gallery pupils from Sybourn Primary School, Waltham Forest.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 
Monday 25 June 2018 

 

 
 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1  Resolved: 

 

 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  
 

 
3   Summary List of Actions (Item 3) 

 

3.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

3.2 Resolved: 

 
That the outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the Committee be 
noted. 

 
 

4   Govia Thameslink Railway (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on the new Govia Thameslink Railway timetable to the following invited 

guests: 

 Nick Brown, Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway; and 

 John Halsall, Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail. 

 

4.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

4.3 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the report and discussion be noted; and 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree a follow up letter to Govia Thameslink requesting 

further information. 

 
 

5   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 

 

That the work programme for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly year, as set 

out in the report, be noted. 

Page 50



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 
Monday 25 June 2018 

 

 
 

6   Date of Next Meeting (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Wednesday 11 July 2018 at 10.00am, 

in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
7   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 7) 

 

7.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
8   Close of Meeting  

 

8.1 The meeting ended at 12.29pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526; 

Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52



 

 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Transport Committee – Monday 25 June 2018 
 

Transcript of Item 4 – Govia Thameslink Railway  
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I would like to welcome Nick Brown, Chief Operating Officer at Govia 

Thameslink.  You have been before the Committee before with other hats on in the past, too.  You are very 

welcome today.  John Halsall is the Route Managing Director for the South East Route at Network Rail.  Thank 

you very much for coming today and for giving us your time, at a very busy time for you, to go through some 

of the issues. 

 

I am going to kick off the questions and I particularly want to look at, really, the current level of performance 

because I am a Southern passenger myself and the train I went for this morning was cancelled.  Somebody 

emailed me this morning and between Streatham and St Albans they used to get 16 trains an hour and this 

morning they had six.  From 16 over the peak-hour period, they had only a handful.  Passengers are really 

suffering. 

 

Perhaps a gentle question to start off with.  What is the current level of performance on your network? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Thank you, Chair.  The level of 

performance is unacceptable, specifically on the Thameslink and Great Northern (GN) services and how they 

impact on the Southern timetable, which was also changed on 20 May.  It is quite right that I start by 

extending our apologies for our part in what is a complex industry-wide situation as to why this timetable has 

failed as far as Thameslink and GN are concerned. 

 

It is against a background of huge investment in the Thameslink programme undertaken by colleagues from 

Network Rail to expand capacity.  Growth in the southeast and through London has been huge in the last      

16 years, with a doubling of demand on our services over the last 12 years.  Therefore, the timetable that has 

been brought in, the first phase of four phases, has not gone well and, as I say, we apologise for our part in 

that. 

 

As I am sure we will discuss, there are some wider issues that have impacted on it.  With John, we have worked 

hard on this over the last year to try to remedy the situation as fast as we can for the benefit of passengers 

travelling to and through London. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  The current performance: would you say it is better or worse than 

under the old timetable for many passengers? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  As far as Thameslink and GN are 

concerned, it is worse in terms of punctuality and the level of cancellations.  That arises from a set of 

complicated issues.  As far as Southern is concerned, most parts of the Southern timetable are performing 

better, which was part of the intention of the Thameslink timetable as well.  For many years, the Southern 

timetable has suffered as a consequence of the work that has been going on but also because as a structure it 

was not fit for purpose.  One of the benefits, if we could call it that, of what has happened as far as 

Thameslink and GN is concerned is that the Southern timetable in totality is working better, but we need to get 

Page 53



 

 

 

the Thameslink and GN timetable right to then ensure the benefits for the metro parts of the Southern 

timetable. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Can you give us the number of services that have been cut from the 

timetable, perhaps in absolute terms, to give us a real picture here as well as perhaps a percentage? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  It varies day by day.  It is typically 

about 350, some of which are planned and some are on-the-day cancellations, which in a live railway we 

suffer.  I apologise for some cancellations this morning arising from some problems we had on the coast, but 

also a very nasty fatality on Friday night in Purley, which has caused some engineering problems for our fleet 

engineers.  That number of cancellations varies and the objective that we have at the moment is to give the 

best possible passenger information to ensure that our passengers can plan their journeys as far as they can, 

but it changes to some extent on a daily basis. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Around 350 a day out of how many services? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Across all of GTR, it is about 3,400 

rising to 3,500 in the new timetable. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  About 10% of trains are just being cancelled and that does not include 

others that are delayed or have problems.  That is a pretty poor service for passengers. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Yes.  We acknowledge that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK.  How are you really managing these current problems?  What are 

you doing to get the timetable back on course?  To be fair, the consultation you did was very thorough.  We 

were involved in briefings.  The public were able to input.  To go from that to then what appears to be a 

disaster surprised us all because it felt, certainly at that point, that there was a lot of planning going on. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  That is absolutely correct and that 

goes to the heart of the industry-wide issues that we face in the implementation of the timetable thus far.  The 

consultation was extensive and - to answer some of the points that you made, Chair, in regard to some stations 

- there are always winners and losers in a timetable revamp.  This has been the biggest that the industry has 

undertaken in a generation. 

 

The challenge was to deliver as much of the benefit as possible in that first phase as practicable, but there was 

an acknowledgement through the Industry Readiness Board and the Assurance Panel and with colleagues from 

the Department for Transport (DfT) who sit on those bodies that the timetable needed to be phased in.  The 

objective was that we had the opportunity to learn at each stage whether there were any gaps or plugs that we 

needed to fill to give the best possible service as we could to as many passengers as possible, accepting that 

there is always a trade-off in railway timetables between frequent stops and fast services over longer distances. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK.  How are you now managing the current problems to get back to 

the May stage of the new timetable? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  When we got to 20 May [2018], we 

had some very late presenting problems, which have caused the difficulties.  The work we are undertaking at 

the moment is to try to stabilise the timetable and to give as much passenger information as possible.  From 

Page 54



 

 

 

today, we have geared that up further in terms of what we have sought to do.  For the first two weeks, it was a 

daily change to the timetable and we recognise and apologise for that because it was awful for passengers.  

However, from the second week onwards, we were able to pre-plan to a degree so that there was a weekly 

pattern as far as we could achieve it to the services that were taken out but also the services that we were able 

to put back in.  We have been able to put back in some services. 

 

As we stand now, we are developing a timetable and working with colleagues from Network Rail to implement 

that from around about the middle of July.  That will see a focus on peak services where, obviously, a lot of 

passengers travel, with some reductions in the off-peak but not on the scale we have currently, to achieve two 

things; firstly, to give passengers a service on which they can rely much more than currently and have some 

predictability, but secondly also to continue the driver training programme that was underway before the 

20 May changes.  A lot has been made of driver training, but driver training was never intended to be 

completed by 20 May.  It was always going to continue through. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are going to focus on that in a minute, but when do you think the 

May timetable or a variation of it will be fully in place for passengers?  Is it the mid-July date or is it later? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  No, it will not be the mid-July date.  

It is still in planning and it is something we have to discuss with colleagues from the DfT. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is not firmed up yet.  OK.  Thank you very much.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Thank you.  Good morning to both of you.  As you will be aware, I represent Croydon 

and Sutton and those areas are particularly directly affected by the changes.  You mentioned earlier about the 

number of trains, in a percentage manner, not working.  You have publicity saying around 20%.  However, if 

you look at the Peterborough to Horsham service, which particularly affects East Croydon and Coulsdon South 

and others, on some days 60% of the service is not running.  That is pretty poor, is it not?  Would you like to 

comment on that, Nick? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Two or three things in regard to that.  

Peterborough to Horsham and Cambridge to Brighton are two of the longer distance services and they are 

resourced from Peterborough and Horsham, not unsurprisingly, and we have not been in a position to 

conclude all the training for drivers in those two locations.  It was never a case of all drivers at both locations; it 

was to respond to the demand that the first phase of the timetable put in place.  However, the allocation of 

work across the whole timetable has caused us that challenge, which means that we are slightly behind where 

we want to be, but that training now -- the cancellations are enabling us to recoup some of that training time. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  We will have questions around drivers later, but your point around that is a driver issue.  

Thank you for that.  We talked about the separation of Thameslink and Southern.  You say that the main 

Southern services are running well.  In my area, we often have as many cancellations as Thameslink.  For 

example, last Wednesday in the evening, areas such as Wallington, Thornton Heath and Norbury suffered four 

out of five consecutive cancellations to London.  That is equally poor, is it not? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  It is. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Could you explain why?  Your earlier comment was to accept the Thameslink timetable 

is an issue, but with Southern the separation has been better.  That does not reflect the details and the 

information I have. 

Page 55



 

 

 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  The services that you receive will be 

from Thameslink or Southern depending on which part of south of the Thames you are from.  The figures I 

quoted before were across the whole of the geography.  Inevitably, at some stations, there will be figures such 

as you have described - I do not have all the detail precisely for every station - but what we are seeking to do 

to minimise the inconvenience to passengers where that occurs and in particular four out of five, which is 

wholly unacceptable, is to make alternative arrangements through other local transport and that is across the 

network, buses and taxis as appropriate, but also to ensure that following trains have special stop orders so 

that passengers will still be able to get from station to station. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  You say that sometimes there are other arrangements, but frequently you have 

cancelled particularly last trains and late trains without providing any alternative services and people were 

stranded.  Would you accept that? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  I accept that it is a risk.  Our policy is 

not to cancel the last train of the day.  If there are any specifics that we have missed out on that you need me 

to follow up on, I will gladly do so, but our intent is to run the last train or last two trains of the day in every 

circumstance and, also, to avoid consecutive cancellations where we can. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  OK.  There are two things I would like to comment on briefly.  One is that, even 

without the chaos, the new timetable has reduced services on what I call the ‘inner London metro’, areas like 

Norbury, Thornton Heath and Norwood Junction.  There is a reduction in services there and they have caused 

problems in south London, particularly around school times and when Millwall and Crystal Palace football fans 

are moving around.  They will be facing a reduction in timetabled services.  Do you acknowledge that there is a 

reduction in those services? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  As I mentioned before, there are 

always winners and losers with every timetable, but if there is a specific around those as a consequence of the 

plan to have the new timetable in place, I will happily take those away. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I will write to you on that.  The last thing I will also write to you about is - and I did 

mention it to you earlier - about easements.  By the changing in the timetable, there have been certain        

off-peak trains being moved to just before 9.30 pm and therefore being moved to on-peak.  That has affected 

people and they have had to wait over half an hour for the next off-peak.  Transport for London (TfL) and 

others have told me they are happy around easements and you are aware what easements are.  I am told that 

GTR have turned their face against easements.  If I write you, will you look at that with some optimism, 

perhaps? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  We have not turned our face against 

anything.  We accept that there are always going to be consequences of timetable change.  We collect the 

revenue but we do not keep the revenue from these and, therefore, it is a discussion with us and the DfT.  If 

you write to me, I would be very happy to take that up. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I will write to you for some support. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Caroline, thank you. 

Page 56



 

 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I will pick up some of those general issues in our correspondence 

following this. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Clearly, part of the problem, we are being told, is the late agreement on the timetable and 

the fact that the agreement between you and Network Rail was a bit late.  Can I first of all ask John, if you do 

not mind?  Why was there this delay in the timetable being agreed? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  First of all, can I repeat the 

message that Nick has already given in terms of an apology?  The situation that we find ourselves in is 

completely unacceptable and the criticisms that we face by passengers and the media are entirely appropriate.  

There are no excuses for that.  All we can do is apologise and give you the commitment that we are doing 

everything we possibly can to fix it, which is what we are doing. 

 

It is very difficult to answer that question very simply so, if you bear with me for a few seconds, I will try to give 

you as honest an account as I can.  Without going back for years in history, which we could easily do, if we go 

back to about November of last year [2017], there was a decision that had been in discussion for some time, 

which was to move from a proposal to roll the Thameslink timetable out in two phases.  A decision was made in 

the autumn of last year to move from two phases, which was considered to be a ‘big bang’, to a more     

drawn-out, incremental change with a four-phase timetable. 

 

It would be true to say that that decision was made later than we would have hoped but, at the time, we felt 

that it was the lesser of two evils because, whilst it eroded a lot of time in terms of producing the timetable, we 

still felt we could deliver the new timetable collectively between Network Rail and GTR and we still felt it was 

better than having this ‘big bang’ approach.  The problem began, if you like, at that moment in time. 

 

Why did we think it was easier to roll out a four-phase timetable than a two-phase timetable?  We felt that it 

was a removal of train services and, therefore, it would be relatively simple.  The experts in both GTR and 

Network Rail felt that to be the case and that it was deliverable. 

 

If I go back in terms of reflection and ask myself what the mistake was that I made personally, it was allowing 

us to continue on at that moment because, once we started carrying on beyond that point, we had 

unconsciously created a position where it would be almost impossible to reverse. 

 

At that point in time, we did actually have, broadly speaking, a timetable for the ‘big bang’ approach, which 

was in accordance with the timescales of the industry process.  Then, in fairly short time, our colleagues in GTR 

had to produce a modified timetable.  We expected that to be relatively simple - timetables are all pretty 

complicated - and we expected it to be complete very early this year. 

 

In reality, it was much more complicated.  There are a variety of reasons why it was more complicated.  There 

were changes made, for understandable reasons, by GTR.  There were changes made by Network Rail.  There 

were changes made by the Department [for Transport].  What was intended to be a very simple change proved 

to be really quite complicated.  To put that into context, we were expecting collectively about maybe 800 or 

900 changes to the timetable.  It transpired that there were about 4,500 - in fact, marginally more than that - 

and so considerably different. 

 

We were now in a situation where the timetable was effectively submitted late but the approval of that 

timetable by Network Rail got later and later because of the additional complexity that we were not expecting 

Page 57



 

 

 

and, hence, we were now eroding into important time that GTR needed.  However, when we spoke to our 

respective timetable teams, they both felt comfortable they could get the timetable done, which they duly did, 

but it took longer and longer, even to the point where we were down to maybe just a few trains out of 

thousands and thousands of trains, but I unpicking those last few trains meant us going back into the heart 

and soul of the timetable and rebuilding it.  It was just a vastly complicated process. 

 

When we finally got the timetable approved, therefore, it was way later than we were expecting.  Therefore, 

colleagues in GTR had a significantly reduced period of time to do the work that they had to do, typically - and 

Nick knows better than I do - maybe three weeks instead of 12 weeks.  If you add on that the layers of 

complexity, this was already one of the biggest timetable changes in a generation and, therefore, not only did 

we have less time to process the timetable but it was a much more significant timetable. 

 

Therefore, it is correct to say that Network Rail responded late, but really you have to go back to the beginning 

of the sausage machine in terms of time to really understand why that is the case.  It is quite a complicated 

story. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is a very clear and helpful explanation.  The question, therefore, is: with all this 

combination of delays and so forth and there being only two or three weeks until it had to ‘go live’, for want of 

a better phrase, why was it not suggested that the launch of the new timetable be delayed to enable GTR to 

get their ducks in a row? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  I will take up the beginning of the 

tale and then the issue that we are -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I will be asking the same question of GTR. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  Yes.  Almost by definition, there is 

a handover point at which I will hand over to Nick.  To some extent I have answered some of the question, but 

as to the question why, let us rewind and let us consider the governance process because that is quite key in 

this process. 

 

At least at the time, up until 20 May [2018], it felt like we had a robust governance process which was beyond 

GTR and Network Rail.  It was an Industry Readiness Board chaired by elder statesmen of the industry.  Sitting 

on that Industry Readiness Board was the Office of Rail and Road (ORR), the Department [for Transport], two 

other colleagues from Network Rail, the Network Rail team that was responsible for the timetable, five 

operators and a number of other individuals, and, as such, a very robust and capable team.  That team was 

reviewing the different component parts of operational readiness once a period but, in addition to that, there 

was another industry expert who then did deep dives into component parts and then reported back on 

identified risks.  It was what we considered at the time to be a robust process to test and make sure that we 

were ready to roll this timetable out.  In hindsight, clearly, that team was not as robust as we had hoped. 

 

There was a series of questions and events.  The first question was in November [2017].  Is it the right decision 

to move away from the two phases to the four phases?  At the time, all of the experts believed that whilst that 

did introduce some risks, those risks could be mitigated, and that is a matter of fact and evidence in terms of 

the minutes of those meetings, and so that was a moment in time. 

 

The next question was, as we were going through those timetable changes and it became apparent that that 

assumption was incorrect, what was then happening with the Industry Readiness Board?  The view was, yes, we 

Page 58



 

 

 

could still deliver the timetable in a timely way.  Yes, there were risks but both Network Rail from a system 

operator overall position felt that it was deliverable and so did colleagues in GTR.  The meetings were pointed 

and challenging.  They were not a walk in the park.  We were collectively challenging each other, as you would 

expect, but the considered opinion of that group was that we could still progress. 

 

Clearly, time was being eroded and, therefore, there came a point in terms of driver rostering, training and all 

of that side of things, which I will hand over to Nick to pick up. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Thanks, John.  I agree with that 

summary.  I would just like to add a couple of things by way of dates. 

 

As John has described, we submitted our proposed timetable in August of last year [2017] based on the 

specification issued by the DfT, which was what was called an ‘end-state specification’.  That was submitted to 

Network Rail and the ‘end state’ would have been at the conclusion of the timetable in its totality in the two-

phase approach that John described.  The offer back from Network Rail in November responded to that, and 

that in and of itself created a workload for GTR then to respond, too. 

 

The two other things that were happening simultaneously were the phasing which John has described and also 

a specific change around Bedford with the removal of East Midlands Trains services, which was another major 

change.  The north end of the Thameslink service had to be incorporated into the plan.  Colleagues in Network 

Rail’s central capacity planning team were under some massive workload as a consequence of those changes as 

well as wider ones across the rest of the country at the time, which caused - exactly as John says - some of the 

challenges that took a much more protracted period of time to resolve those timetable issues. 

 

That took us right through to the second or third week of April [2018] when the timetable was finally ‘proven’, 

as Network Rail would describe it, and we then had something to work with to prepare our train diagrams and 

work schedules, as we call them, for the rolling stock and then for the drivers.  Then, from there, we go to the 

last phase, which is what is called ‘rostering’, which is where those work schedules are applied to a roster for 

drivers to work around.  At the diagram stage, because of the haste with which it was done, we have usually no 

less than 12 weeks to prepare that part; often 20 weeks is part of the industry process.  The industry process 

was creaking quite substantially in terms of what we were required to do and, therefore, our necessary haste 

meant that we had insufficient time to optimise the work schedules as we describe them and, therefore, had an 

inefficient set which led to an inefficient roster.  The first part caused an increase in demand above plan for the 

workload for train drivers and the second had a mismatch of the locations and where they were to drive. 

 

The issue then was that, with three days to go between posting the roster and the timetable, we had very little 

time to do anything different and, exactly as John says, the consequences to the rest of the rail network would 

have been catastrophic if we had held with the existing timetable.  It would have been more unworkable over a 

greater geography. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  When it got to three weeks or minus three weeks - or however you want to express it - 

when you had the final plan, did it not occur to anybody either from Network Rail or from yourselves to say, 

“Hang on.  The industry standard is 12 to 20 weeks.  We might be able to do 10 or 15 weeks, but three weeks 

it is not practical.  We need to delay this for 20 weeks”? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  At that point, it would have still been 

unworkable given the impact on the rest of the industry.  The other thing was that each party in the process - 

and John described who they are - was working on a series of workarounds to make sure that we delivered the 

Page 59



 

 

 

timetable as best we could.  The ultimate problem that we faced was that we ran out of time to deliver the 

workarounds that were there to get the whole timetable delivered on 20 May. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Surely, John, Network Rail could say to the whole industry - we are not saying you mucked 

up, but it just helps my phraseology - “Look, there has been a mess-up.  There has been a delay in agreeing all 

the different timetables.  Can everybody just stand where they are?  Can everybody just keep doing what they 

are doing for another two months” - or a month or whatever period of time you need to buy time - “to get 

everything sorted?”  Why was that call not made? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  There are two aspects.  I will start 

with the end of the story while I remember it.  With three weeks to go -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Will it change in a few minutes’ time, then? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  This is being recorded, this 

conversation, a lot -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It is. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  -- and, as such, I will be 

consistent.  With three weeks to go - and I am sure Nick will provide more detail in a few seconds - we were 

not waving a red flag.  With three weeks to go, we were not in that position.  The red flag was waved 

considerably closer to zero hours than that. 

 

However, there is an important point that I will share with the Committee, which is probably the essence of the 

problem that we face or the cause of the problem underneath everything.  Two years ago - in fact, Nick and I 

started in role at about the same time - when the Industry Readiness Board was set up, the Thameslink 

programme and the rollout of the timetable was an extraordinary challenge.  It was an extraordinary challenge 

in terms of timetable, but the thing that we have not spoken about is the infrastructure changes at London 

Bridge, Blackfriars, Farringdon, new stations, refurbished stations, new infrastructure that nobody ever sees, 

new points, tracks, retraining of staff, new signalling, new technology, some of the first in country, and a long 

list, £7 billion -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can I just stop you there?  I do apologise but we are short on time.  The question is, 

though, it is one thing if you are playing with a train set in your loft, but you are playing with a real train set.  I 

am very envious, actually, but you are playing with a real train set and real people.  You have to deal with 

rolling stock.  You have to deal with driver training.  You then also have to deal with the unions as well. 

 

Who in their right mind would think that you could achieve any of that in three weeks?  My experience is that 

you would be lucky to do it in three months.  Why would you then say, “Yes, we can do this by the seat of our 

pants”?  It does not seem like a sensible decision to have made. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  That preamble was important 

because, with that level of complexity two years ago, we had to collectively as an industry create an 

environment where we can do it because, if we had not created a culture of can-do, then, quite frankly, 

nothing would have happened, and two years ago that was the direction of travel.  Two years ago, there was a 

momentum that we could do this and a passion to do it because we knew that doing it - and it still will - will 

deliver huge benefits to passengers and we will get there in the end.  Two years ago we wanted to create that 

Page 60



 

 

 

culture and we created the culture.  Now, that culture was processing risks all of the time, as all of us are very 

aware of, as problems arose, as problems were dealt with.  Day after day, problems arose and they were 

mitigated and dealt with. 

 

The mistake that we made was that as those problems continued to arise, even up to the last minute, our 

attention was focusing on resolving them and dealing with the risk associated with them rather than putting 

the red flag up and saying, “It is too late”.  I unreservedly apologise for the fact that we failed to put our foot 

on the ball until it was too late, but I can only say that -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I am going to bring this bit to a close, but I just find it difficult to understand why.  You 

have already touched on it.  You were not just dealing with changing the timetable.  You were dealing with 

virtually a new train line.  You were dealing with new stations, new underpasses, new tunnels and new rolling 

stock.  There were so many new variables, any one of which if it went wrong would cause a problem, and yet 

you still decided with only three weeks to go to say, “We will see what happens”.  I find that very surprising. 

 

I am conscious of time and, therefore, I just want to throw in one other googly, if you like, which is around 

complexity and the fact that in the south it is a bit of a lottery as to where you are going to end up when you 

get on a train, in my experience.  You go to different stations.  Where I come from in Romford, all the trains go 

to Liverpool Street or they go to Shenfield and it is quite simple.  In the south, they tend to go to different 

main line stations or different stations.  [Sir] Peter Hendy [CBE, Chair, Network Rail) commented - I am sure 

you have heard of Peter Hendy - on how difficult it is going to all these multiple stations.  For instance, there 

is a line where one train goes to Cannon Street and the other one goes to Charing Cross. 

 

Would there not be some argument for saying that we are just going to go to one track instead of trains 

crisscrossing all over the place?  Is it just too complex? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Can I pick that one up, Mr Prince?  

You have almost described the whole dilemma of the project and that is to link north and south of the capital 

to cope with phenomenal growth.  Frankly, where do you put the trains?  There are some unlikely origin and 

destination points.  We have talked about Peterborough and Horsham.  The issue is not that Peterborough and 

Horsham of themselves need to be linked; it is that you can just run the trains end-to-end so that you do not 

have to leave them stationary in London.  It would take up vast quantities of real estate to have even larger 

stations to do that.  We have London Bridge, which has been fantastically rebuilt by colleagues in Network 

Rail, but even that is getting close to capacity and running the trains through London Bridge and then through 

the core out to St Pancras and then north from there is the most efficient way of moving the large numbers of 

people that we need to move into and across the capital. 

 

If I may just come back to an earlier point you made about infrastructure, routes, trains and technology, all of 

those parts did come together, but we have not only just recently started to train people to drive the new 

trains or to learn the routes, that has been going on for quite a while. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We will come on to that.  That is our next section and, therefore, let us 

hold your comments on that. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  All right, but it all fits together.  As 

John says, yes, there was a series of workarounds that we had to put in place and mitigations, and I reiterate 

our apology that when the time ran out on all of those, that was when the problems started. 

 

Page 61



 

 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can I just ask one final question?  Whose decision would it have been to run with the ball 

or who would have been the person to say, “We cannot run with this.  It is just too tight”?  Who made the 

decision to go with it - or who did not make the decision to not go with it - and whose decision is that? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  John will speak for himself as well.  

Those of us sitting at the Industry Readiness Board all had a participative role in that, but, from the actual 

operation of GTR, that would have been me or the Chief Executive Officer.  However, we were acutely aware of 

our role within the industry structure and the implications it would make. 

 

In terms of how this has come to pass, not just here but perhaps in the north of England as well, the issues that 

we face are industry structure and the processes that we face and that we have to work through perhaps were 

built for a time and designed for a time very different from the levels of investment that are going into the rail 

industry now.  Therefore, we welcome the opportunity to sit down with the ORR in their review and the 

industry debate that is raging at the moment as to what the best way to do this going ahead is.  Our first job - 

and I hope I speak for John in this - is to get this put right for our passengers and for London as soon as we 

can in as sensible and safe a way as we can.  The challenge for the wider industry is to develop processes that 

are fit for purpose and not to make a bad process better. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  The Peter Hendy point, before he became your Chair, is 

about it having 17 different ends on this route and Crossrail is complicated enough with three.  Tom, you 

wanted to come in quickly? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I have just a couple of further points on that.  You said that with three weeks to go there 

was not a red flag going up, but I am wondering how on earth there was not.  You know how many trains you 

need, you know how many drivers you need, you know how long it takes to train a driver, you know how many 

drivers have been trained and how many more you need.  With three weeks to go, surely you would know 

whether or not it was going to work. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Three weeks out, we received the 

timetable from Network Rail.  We then had to assess the number of work schedules.  The number of work 

schedules was greater than we had planned for and in the plans that we shared with the Industry Readiness 

Board by, roundly, 50 drivers.  That immediately used the contingency that we had in place to run the service. 

 

Because of the challenges, two of the issues that were always part of the plan for this were to, firstly, continue 

the training throughout the whole process and through the subsequent phases that we described before and, 

secondly, to achieve that by what we call piloting drivers through the core part from East Croydon through to 

St Pancras or Blackfriars, typically, to enable drivers who did not have that key part of route knowledge 

because London Bridge was being rebuilt and suchlike.  That was the key part to get folks through.  We then 

had to go further afield and we did very quickly bring in training managers, testing and commissioning drivers 

who had been bringing in the new trains and suchlike to reinforce behind the contingency that had been used 

up. 

 

At that point of three weeks out - and it was a bit less by the time we had issued diagrams and so we were 

down to perhaps about two weeks - we had started to flag to the Industry Readiness Board that there was a 

problem and that there would have to be some further contingency to enable us to close that gap because we 

had soaked up the 50 drivers into the base service away from the piloting programme which had been there. 

 

Page 62



 

 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Joanne [McCartney AM] is going to come on to ask some questions about drivers, but just 

finally on the complexity point, in our briefing it said that Network Rail had warned the DfT when the franchise 

was let that the timetable was going to be too complicated.  John, you kept using the word ‘deliverable’, 

saying, “Yes, it was deliverable”, but did Network Rail really believe that it was deliverable given what we have 

heard, which is that they were telling the DfT it was not and, when [Sir] Peter Hendy [CBE] of course became 

Chair, based on what he had said to us as well? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  That is correct.  Network Rail in 

the original refranchising process did say that the proposal that had been submitted was not deliverable, but 

then we spent several years working with GTR to create what we considered to be a working proposal.  It is not 

fair to blame the current situation on that original rejection.  Everybody would accept that the level of change 

was hugely ambitious and still is, but I believe that we can come up with a plan that will work.  It will always be 

challenging and it will be ambitious, but we need to do it and I believe we can do it.  We do need to focus on 

the recent history in terms of what has gone wrong rather than blame those decisions because it is recent 

history where we have tripped up badly. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Let us move on to drivers.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  For all of your long-suffering passengers on the GN route, even before the new 

timetable, the unavailability of a driver was quite a frequent excuse given as to why a train was not arriving.  

We have touched on it already, but can I just ask you for some detailed figures?  Can I ask you, Nick, how 

many drivers had you planned that you needed? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  At the time of the timetable change - 

and I will explain the headline and then the detail - we needed 889 drivers and we had resourced 898.  That 

included bringing some in at short notice from Southern and Southeastern whom we recruited when we were 

aware of the diagram problem.  That is what took up the contingency that I just described. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Is that the total number of drivers or additional drivers? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  No, that is the total number of 

drivers across Thameslink and GN.  The number of diagrams that we had forecast was 854 and that went to 

930.  These things always do jump around a bit but by not as much as you would expect as that.  That was the 

quantum problem that we faced three weeks out and we believed we had solved that one -- 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  The training problem? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  -- but then we went to an issue 

where we had the rostering problem.  Drivers were training well before the timetable change.  We had trained, 

on one example, over 52% through what we call high-level 17, which is a new part through London Bridge.  

When London Bridge reopened after the work that Network Rail undertook at Christmas and the New Year, 

within a week we were back training people through London Bridge by diverting some passenger services 

where we could off the Herne Hill route and suchlike. 

 

Page 63



 

 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Can we stick with training for the moment?  You have given me an example there, 

but we have heard, for example, on the Peterborough to Horsham line, only 15% of the drivers had been 

trained at the time the new timetable came into effect.  Is that correct? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  I cannot quote a percentage, but I 

know that there were a dozen drivers trained at Peterborough for two what we call ‘lines of work’.  That would 

not have been a bad ratio from 12 to two lines of work -- 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  It would be useful if you could write afterwards with the various lines and drivers, 

that would be helpful. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  If I could write to you and explain 

that?  Yes.  Basically, for two jobs we had 12 people, which over a week would have worked.  Those were plans 

that we had explained to the Industry Readiness Board and where we put up the red flag when we did at the 

beginning of May. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  You started rostering drivers and what happened then? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  The rostering process is one that we 

go through in two phases with colleagues from the trade unions. One is to agree the diagrams, which is a 

consultative process, and then a negotiable process, which is the rostering.  We had a greater quantum of 

diagrams and a high degree of inefficiency in those, which is what drove the increased numbers that I have 

described.  We had increased numbers and then, as they were then applied to the roster, further inefficiency 

and a mismatch of the route knowledge, which we have just talked about, say, for Peterborough-Horsham, 

where that work fell across the different depots that we have.  I am sorry it is so complicated -- 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Is this part of some new software you were using or was it -- 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  No, we are investing in new software, 

which will enhance the process, but it does not take away from the responsibilities we have to trade unions in 

those joint processes.  What we did was to have insufficient time, as John has described, to do that in a quality 

way.  I pay tribute to those colleagues from the trade unions who worked late into the night to get that done 

because it was on 18 May when we were able to conclude that and post the rosters.  That was when we 

realised - and nobody else had put their finger on it from any part of the industry until that point - that we had 

that problem then. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Going back to training, do you have or did you have sufficient training instructors 

to do the training that was needed or are you looking at that again? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  We have recruited over 19% more 

train drivers over the last few years into Thameslink, GN and GTR in total.  Our driver training programme is 

one of the largest in the land because, when the franchise was let, there was insufficient train drivers and the 

backlog had to be recouped.  Along with an advancing age profile, there was a clear need to recruit more train 

drivers.  The training management teams and the courses that we run are very substantial and have always 

been well populated and we will continue to recruit train drivers. 

 

The problem that we had when the rostering problem hit following the diagrams problem and the work 

schedules problem was that we had to use our competency development managers and our training managers, 

Page 64



 

 

 

all fully qualified as train drivers, to support the piloting through the core part because those we had intended 

to use on the core part of the network for training were used supporting the main train service.  Therefore, our 

key objective at the moment is to have those people returned to training to continue to pass out some of the 

new drivers and some of the existing drivers on the new routes. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Going forward, when do you believe you will have enough drivers for the planned 

routes and the planned new timetable? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  It is difficult to pin down exactly 

when simply because it is a part here and a part there.  The distribution as a consequence of the rosters has 

made that difficult to predict. 

 

What we do have and what we have been doing in the last few weeks is, rather than a train drivers’          

depot-based plan, we have gone to an individual train driver training plan, which in fairness we had before but 

we have gone into a greater degree of granularity to pinpoint exactly where a train driver can pass out the 

quickest in terms of getting the qualification needed to complete their work and to gain route knowledge.  

That will work out over the next four to five months.  As time goes on, the quantum - back to the 

Peterborough illustration - is that there will be a greater number of competent drivers for a fixed number of 

work schedules that they work to. 

 

I can write to you if that makes more sense.  I accept that there is a lot to take in there. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  The new timetable will come in at some point and it would be helpful if there were 

no cancellations at that point. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  That is the whole objective, but we 

have to trade off putting some cancellations in the service from July compared to what it would have been in 

the 20 May timetable but also allowing us to recoup the training period that we have lost since 20 May and 

getting back to the training gradient and pass-out rate that we had in place before. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We were told that last October [2017] drivers started expressing 

concern that the training was too late and that the predicated training rate meant that you would not have 

enough drivers.  Are you aware of that? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  The challenge with trained drivers 

learning new routes is that their knowledge lapses after six months.  For a timetable starting in May, January or 

the previous December is probably the window of opportunity to start that driver training.  We were satisfied 

that we had a trajectory that gave us enough train drivers.  We had a plan which we had shared with the 

Industry Readiness Board to give them competence over what was required.  The [Industry] Readiness Board 

had acknowledged and supported the fact that we were going to have to continue training throughout.  All 

parties in the Industry Readiness Board were aware of that and we were preparing mitigations.  I speak many 

times a week to train drivers in various guises, usually when they are driving trains or on the platform.  Some 

did express a concern, but when I explained the background as to how we were doing this, they understood 

the how and why.  Interestingly, some Peterborough drivers said, “Hang on a minute.  There are only 12 drivers 

here”.  Yes, but it is not for 30 lines of work; it is for two or three lines of work to start with.  That is how it was 

working through, but when you are dealing with those ratios, what we presented on 4 May [2018] was the 

second iteration to the Industry Readiness Board of how we were going to try to manage in that very         

time-constrained period. 

Page 65



 

 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Just quickly before we move on, you have a very unusual franchise in 

that the DfT rules every single thing you do.  Did you ask the DfT for funding for driver training which they 

declined? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  The franchise arrangements for GTR 

are, as you say, complicated.  Those are a matter of negotiation with the DfT along with other aspects of the 

Thameslink programme introduction. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Did you request further funding for driver training that the DfT 

declined? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  I am not aware that they have 

declined anything yet.  We have not asked for any extra funding over and above -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You are not aware that in the last six months you asked for further 

funding for driver training? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  No, there is a discussion as part of 

our ongoing business with the DfT that is to fund the totality of some of the Thameslink work of which driver 

training is part and parcel, but that is all there in discussions weekly and monthly and has been for a long time.  

It is not as a consequence of any of the problems that we have encountered. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK.  Maybe we will come back to that in correspondence.  Let us move 

on to looking at the infrastructure and rolling stock.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you.  Yes, John, why was the network not ready for the timetable changes? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  All of the infrastructure was 

available and none of the problems that we are facing today are infrastructure related.  Some of the challenges 

in the north of the country have filtered their way through in terms of the challenges that parts of Network 

Rail face in terms of timetable processing, but none of the problems we are facing today are infrastructure 

related. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  There were a number of issues, though.  For example, the train management system was 

delayed. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  The train management system is 

still behind programme, but it does not have an impact in terms of the current situation at all.  It is quite 

exciting inasmuch as the technology is brand new to the Overground railway, but recognised knowledge on the 

subject means that it takes typically between 18 months and three years to deliver the benefits.  You are 

absolutely right that the bigger priority in terms of traffic management is about making sure that when it goes 

in it is right because it is a slow-burn benefit -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Hang on.  You are saying that that has not had any impact at the moment? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  No, there are no infrastructure 

issues which impact on the current situation. 

Page 66



 

 

 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I find that rather difficult to believe, really.  Our briefing is saying that because of the 

delays with this and because it was not in place, controllers were overwhelmed when the new timetable came 

in. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  That is incorrect. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That is not correct? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  It is completely incorrect.  We 

have provided a very clear narrative as to the challenges that we face in terms of consuming time and 

squeezing up the process to the end so that colleagues in GTR struggled to make sure that drivers were 

available.  The challenges that we faced that we are prioritising and trying to fix today are all about dealing 

with the cancellations.  Those cancellations are due to driver availability.  It is as simple as that. 

 

In the event that traffic management was available, then it is questionable, even if it was available, whether or 

not it would deliver material benefits because it does take a long time to deliver.  It is definitely nothing to do 

with that. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  One other aspect of the infrastructure which I believe has had a knock-on impact on driver 

training is that the Canal Tunnels were made available or they were not made available in a timely way.  Why 

was that? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  The Canal Tunnels were available 

for empty coach moves from October 2016 and so I do not know whether your records say that.  They were 

not available for passenger services until February [2018].  They were always programmed to be available in 

March.  What became apparent at one of our Industry Readiness Board meetings and also another meeting 

that Nick and I hold together is that, to train drivers, the sooner that the Canal Tunnels were made available 

the better.  In terms of programmed delivery, they were programmed to deliver in 2016 and they were available 

for empty rolling stock and actually were delivered ahead as a result of Nick pushing for them to be delivered 

ahead.  They were delivered ahead of the March date this year. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It says they were delivered in mid-February and only after pressure from Govia. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  Yes, that is correct. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It was mid-February when they became available for route training. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  Well -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I can see Nick wants to come in on this point. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  There is a little piece of the jigsaw, if 

I may, Mr Copley, is that whilst they were available for empty stock moves, you still have to run a train through 

and put it somewhere.  Therefore, John and I were both very active in the meeting to get it open on 

26 February this year so that we could start to run passenger trains through because that is the most efficient 

way of having competent drivers training other drivers to get through. 

 

Page 67



 

 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  The question that we posed at the 

time, because obviously this is a well-trodden conversation, was -- the original plan, which is I guess the point 

that I am making, was available for empty rolling stock in 2016.  I do not know whether it was October but it 

was some time ago.  The original plan was to have them available for passenger moves in March [2018].  That 

was the plan.  That is what Thameslink had to do; that is what Thameslink did.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Does ‘empty rolling stock’ mean a driver can go through -- 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  A driver can go through but 

cannot have passengers on that train. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes, but does that mean the driver who is being trained can go through? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  It could be.  The question which 

was not asked was: Thameslink had a programme and they followed the programme and Network Rail 

delivered according to that programme, but the Thameslink programme team did not ask GTR, “When do you 

need this to be available?”  Similarly, GTR did not say to Network Rail, “When will it be available?”  Therefore, I 

am not making a judgement as to who is right or wrong.  I am simply saying that, in terms of the original 

programme, the infrastructure was made available on time. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Does that mean you were not talking to each other? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  This plays back to the point that 

Mr Prince [Keith Prince AM] made earlier on, which is that there are thousands and thousands of 

interdependencies.  We were talking to each other, which is why it was raised at one of our [Industry] 

Readiness [Board] meetings and it was flagged as a risk, but there was an assumption that the Thameslink 

timetable programme was well understood.  That assumption was incorrect. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  When John refers to “Thameslink” 

there, he means the Thameslink programmes as opposed to GTR.  That is all right.  The issue for us was that if 

we had had access as we would have ultimately wished to the Canal Tunnels, we would have been parking 

trains in St Pancras when passenger trains were there and the operational risk to the service as it was at the 

time at the back end of last year would have been way too great. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  You would not have used them for training? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Other than at the margin to train 

testing and commissioning drivers, who work under special rules.  The only efficient way for us to have trained 

drivers, which is what we did, was to get early permission as soon as we could in January [2018].  It was at the 

January Industry Readiness Board where I led the charge and John supported us in saying to the programme 

[team], “We need this sorting very quickly, please”, and it was by 26 February. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Just more broadly in terms of infrastructure, when John says that the infrastructure did not 

have any impact on this, do you agree? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  The work that was scheduled to be 

completed has been completed.  There are still some issues that affect us south of the river, but they were not 

material to the introduction of the timetable. 

Page 68



 

 

 

 

Tom Copley AM:  John, are there any other infrastructure improvements still outstanding and, if so, when will 

they be finished? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  As Nick said, there are a few 

minor infrastructure issues, but I am answering this with respect to which are impacting on train performance 

today.  I presume that is the context of the question.  There are a few minor ones in terms of turn-backs and 

some signalling but nothing that is materially impacting on the problem that we are facing today, so no. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Finally, Nick, why was the rolling stock so late to enter service? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  The rolling stock of Class 700 trains - 

and this predates my time in GTR - were delayed in delivery from Germany.  It required the drivers in some 

parts to relearn and it caused some dislocation a couple of years ago to their training programme.  The trains 

were not as reliable as they should have been.  Their miles between failures were much lower than we 

expected.  Siemens have worked hard to improve that and have rolled out a series of software modifications to 

do that, but from 20 May we had all the trains that we needed across the network on the Class 700 fleet, both 

full-length units and reduced-length units. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I believe there were some issues with the financing but that was something that was for the 

DfT? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  I cannot comment on that. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes.  OK. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you very much indeed.  We are on our last section now.  

It is on passengers.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you.  I appreciate that the two of you started off by offering 

apologies for the recent chaos, but the reality is, for passengers who are using these routes, apologies are not 

what they want.  They just want a functioning train service for which they are paying thousands of pounds 

annually.  A recent survey by Which? found that three out of five respondents replied by saying that this 

change to a new timetable has had a major impact on their health, their finances and their family life.  A 

number of people are just really struggling.  We are seeing scenes at stations where people are being crammed 

on platforms.  People are then taking that frustration out on hard-working staff.  It is just not fair. 

 

In terms of what is going on, what is your message to passengers who are affected not just across London and 

the southeast but right across the country? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Let me start by reiterating our 

apology.  I know - your point is well made - that passengers want us to get back to as normal a service as we 

can as soon as possible and we want that as well.  I have met with many of those passengers.  We have Meet 

the Manager sessions, which we hold frequently at King’s Cross and more recently at London Bridge and 

travelling on trains.  We do know and we do feel and we see through our post bag the discomfort, the 

challenges and the life impact that this is having on people.  I make no bones about it: we do understand that.  

John’s colleagues stand shoulder to shoulder with us when we have met our passengers at those set-piece 

events. 

Page 69



 

 

 

 

There is compensation that is in place.  GTR has an industry-leading delay-repay compensation scheme in 

place.  I say it is industry-leading because it is after 15 minutes.  That is compensation to be paid to passengers 

at 15 minutes.  Since 20 May, we have had 260,000 applications for compensation and 80% of those have 

been processed within two days.  That is against the timetable as it should be, not against the interim 

arrangements that we have.  We are about to launch a poster campaign to raise the visibility of that as well as 

the online systems so that passengers can claim what they are entitled to. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  That is good to hear and my understanding is that you do have a 

lot of data for your passengers because, again, a number of them purchase their tickets well in advance.  You 

have their details.  In terms of the passengers who still have not come forward, what are you doing proactively 

to reach out to them?  Again, when you are trying to juggle getting to work on time and explaining to your 

boss why you are late and then trying to plan your route back to pick up the kids, get home, get them ready 

for bed, the last thing you want to do is go online and fill in a compensation form, but they are entitled to 

that.  Is there anything that you think you can offer in terms of passengers who have not come forward? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  A good proportion have come 

forward, clearly indicated by the figures that we have.  We, as I say, are raising the profile of that so that 

passengers who have not yet made contact with us and are affected - not all are affected but many are 

affected - so that we can make that compensation available to them in an efficient and swift way. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  I understand that in 2016 GTR offered season ticket holders 

compensation equivalent to one month’s travelling following some of the delays.  Again, will something to the 

tune of that nature be offered? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Those were arrangements put in 

place as a consequence of the industrial action.  The revenue that we collect on behalf of the DfT is the DfT’s 

revenue that we are collecting.  Therefore, any other arrangements beyond what I have just described will need 

to be agreed with the DfT. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Finally, before I hand over to my colleague Caroline [Russell AM], 

what more do you feel could be done in terms of the messaging and information getting out to passengers?  

Again, there is that sheer frustration of turning up and standing at a platform.  Sometimes the staff at the 

station do not know what is going on.  There is a lapse in terms of the information coming down to the 

ground.  Some of this could be headed off by making sure that you are getting that information out in a more 

timely manner.  I appreciate that there will be some cancellations which might be out of your control, but, 

again, those decisions are being taken somewhere.  What more do you think can be done in making sure that 

information is going out? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  One of the challenges that we have 

had is getting that information out as fast as electronic media and there are different forms of electronic media 

to get to passengers and to staff because passengers now are seeing stuff at the same time as staff are seeing 

it.  We have had some issues with one or two central London stations to make sure that that information is as 

fast as it can be.  You are absolutely right about cancellations.  The other challenge we have had is where we 

have reinstated trains and that is making sure that there is sufficient notice so that passengers can plan their 

journey, be it 20 minutes in advance, be it 10 minutes in advance, and to know what the stopping pattern for 

that train is. 

 

Page 70



 

 

 

The key objective for us and for our colleagues in Network Rail and the rest of the rail industry is to get this 

timetable sorted by bringing in an interim arrangement in July [2018], as I have described, catching up on the 

backlog of training and getting that trajectory right to get the full benefits of this massive investment 

programme in place. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  Nick, you started off earlier this morning saying that there are always 

going to be winners and losers in a timetable revamp.  What it seems that we are looking at here is an awful lot 

of losers.  Just in terms of planning, you say there are never consecutive trains cancelled and -- 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  We try to avoid that. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  You are trying to avoid that and you say that the last train does not get cancelled.  In 

terms of people planning ahead, that is really difficult.  In our briefing, it says that on 19 June [2018] GTR was 

updating its online timetable on Friday for the following week.  This is really difficult for passengers who are 

really relying on these services to get to work and to get home at the end of the day. 

 

When do you think that the full planned service will be operating? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Can I just pick up the first part about 

19 June?  On what I said earlier about the winners and losers, firstly, I accept that there are losers at the 

moment because the service is just poor.  The issue around the plan that we put in place and which the Chair 

described as a very comprehensive consultation that we did, there is always a trade-off between stopping a 

train frequently to pick up passengers versus running them fast.  Therefore, stopping patterns have changed.  

They change at school times to pick up and drop off schoolchildren appropriate to the time of the day and the 

geography that they serve.  That is what I meant by winners and losers in terms of how a timetable is 

constructed and not letting trains get in the way of each other. 

 

To the wider point of 19 June, once we got through the first two weeks, which I described as almost daily 

changes that we had to make to try to get some stability in, we were changing and strengthening the timetable 

week on week.  19 June will have been one of those weekly changes.  It should not have changed substantially 

other than to put in incremental trains where we were sure that we could run them.  The objective is to give 

that forecast for the next two, three and four weeks ahead.  That was our intention.  The changes from that 

week to subsequent weeks would have been incremental and building up. 

 

The objective we are trying to avoid is what we had in the first two weeks when passengers were faced when 

they got into a station with just seeing, “Cancelled, cancelled, cancelled”, which is not the intention at all.  We 

need to show passengers what is running and what is assuredly running.  That is the point. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  How much longer should passengers expect this situation to be going on for until they 

can expect a stable timetable? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  As I have mentioned, around about 

mid-July.  We are looking - and it is subject to agreement with colleagues in the DfT and the franchise 

management team - to put in a timetable that will enable us to offer a greater level of surety to passengers.  It 

will have fewer trains in the off-peak.  We will aim to secure the peak because that is when the bulk of people 

Page 71



 

 

 

are travelling, but also to improve on the timetable that was in place beforehand, and then, as I mentioned 

before, build up through the rest of the year to the full level of the May timetable. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  By “the full level of the May timetable”, you mean bringing that in -- 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Insofar as we can, between the July 

timetable change that we want to make to bring in some stability and then to build the rest of the promise of 

the May timetable. 

 

Sorry, if I can just qualify that, because of the way the system works, adding extra trains in happens in an 

inefficient way because of the manpower requirements for driver resources or whatever.  What we want to do is 

to make sure that what we build in to get back to the full timetable, firstly, is assured for passengers.  That is 

the key thing.  We do not want to put something in one week and then find that we have a problem in the 

subsequent week.  We will do it in steps and we are not going to give any guarantees yet as to exactly when 

that is going to be, but the first step will be from the middle of July. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  People are finding it quite hard to understand why these careful steps are happening 

now and have not happened months previously so that it was able to be delivered properly. 

 

I just want to move on to the December [2018] timetable change.  Now, we have heard through this morning 

about the problems of processing risks and getting so involved in the detail of firefighting the problems as they 

were coming up that no one had a helicopter view to put up a red flag and say, “Hey, we have a problem 

here”.  What guarantees can you give that you are working differently so that the December timetable change 

can be implemented smoothly?  That is a question for both of you. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Can I just pick that up first around 

the careful steps?  You have absolute assurance that we will be taking very careful steps going ahead and 

shouting even louder than some of us did shout beforehand, but I accept your point.  The careful steps are in 

everybody’s interests but most of all has to be in the interests of our passengers.  That is first and foremost. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Can I just say?  Who was shouting beforehand?  Who were you 

shouting at when they were not listening?  The DfT? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  We told you about how at the 

Industry Readiness Board we raised the issue of the fact that we had the problem of diagrams, which was 

causing the increase in driver requirement.  That was there.  Perhaps we could have shouted louder.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  That was at three weeks? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It would be under that.  Two weeks out and nobody was listening? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  That was on 4 May [2018] when we 

raised the issue, but -- 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  What a can-do attitude. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  -- the Readiness Board was aware of 

the issues that we were facing.  There were some red flags and there were some yellow flags and all of that sort 

Page 72



 

 

 

of stuff, as you would normally expect from a programme and project management appraisal, if you will, or 

assurance process. 

 

The issue that we were concerned about - and perhaps we could have shouted louder; perhaps it was not so 

much a shout as, “This is the concern” - and the point is that we wanted to make sure that those steps are all 

in place before we start to change the timetable as we head towards December.  That is really what I want to 

say there. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  We have a new Chief Executive 

who is coming in from Network Rail perspective and the Secretary of State has asked Andrew Haines, our new 

Chief Executive, to make a recommendation.  My understanding is that that is with respect not just to the GTR 

December timetable but to all of the national timetables because it is a significant change across the country 

again.  Andrew, as I understand it, has made a recommendation to the Secretary of State and the Secretary of 

State is considering those recommendations with an expectation of an announcement later this week in terms 

of what will be progressing and what will not happen with respect to the December timetable. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Presumably, you are not able to speculate on that until that announcement happens, 

but I am not sure that you have actually answered whether you expect the December timetable change to be 

implemented smoothly. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  You are right.  No, I have not. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Do you think what is happening now is going to enable this timetable to be 

implemented smoothly or do you think you are going to be bogged down in the same old problems? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  We have learnt a lot of lessons, 

but we have a lot to do between now and December if we are to roll out the December timetable.  Both GTR 

and Network Rail are of the opinion that even if we could reassure ourselves that we were ready, it would be a 

difficult message to convince passengers.  Therefore, playing to what Nick said earlier, we need to be very 

conservative in our approach.  Some of that thinking has gone into the recommendations that Andrew [Haines] 

has made to the Secretary of State. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Do you have a plan B in case you find that you are not ready in December? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  We do.  Do you want to pick that 

up? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Can I just clarify this bit about 

shouting out?  We have been through a lot in the Industry Readiness Board and, whilst risks are raised, they 

get addressed and mitigated, but that is the whole issue that we faced around the mitigations and the 

workarounds that we were putting in place.  We were not shouting and screaming at every meeting or anything 

like that.  Some risks came and some risks went, but the risks that eventuated with us were ones at the last 

minute which we raised. 

 

In regard to plan B, it is effectively what we are having to do at the moment which is not where we want to be.  

The plan for the mid-July timetable will be the one that takes us back on a trajectory that we are comfortable 

with through to getting the timetable back in place.  The timetable is due to step up by two trains going 

Page 73



 

 

 

through the centre of London in December.  That is subject to the review that John was talking about led by 

Andrew Haines. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  I am not trying to be a pain.  It is 

just that I am trying to keep the answers straightforward.  A proposition which has been considered would be 

to take what we are doing now and make incremental improvements between now and December but, rather 

than put the extra trains in, we do not put those additional trains in.  That will provide passengers with a 

service which is at least as good as it was before the timetable changing and then we can make some 

incremental improvements beyond that so that it will get better and better.  What we are very cautious about is 

making a more significant step in December and it all falling down again.  Until the Secretary of State has 

made the decision based on the recommendations, I cannot say any more than that, but I have probably 

explained our thinking. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That makes sense. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  Would it be possible for me just to 

respond to Ms Eshalomi’s question around passengers? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes, of course, before I bring in other Members. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  I heard the emotion in your voice.  

It is very difficult for us not to get emotional about it as well.  Nick talked about the experience that we have 

when we meet passengers.  We do meet passengers.  We stand at London Bridge and the passengers are 

understandably keen to share their personal circumstances.  We are there because we want to hear it and we 

want to understand it and we want to emotionally engage in it.  We care. 

 

There is another aspect that I guess we all forget about, which is that I have 3,500 people in my team and Nick 

has an even larger number.  These guys and girls get out of bed just to run an effective railway.  That is what 

they do for a living.  That is all they care about.  The railway is a bit of a family and for those individuals this is 

devastating.  It is devastating because we care and the teams care and they care with a real passion.  For 

people whose livelihood it is to support passengers to see those passengers so upset, they completely 

understand how passengers feel but everybody is totally heartbroken by the current situation. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Just on that, is there additional support for staff?  Again, like I 

said, they are the ones on the receiving end of this frustration from passengers.   

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  To be honest, passengers are, 

despite everything, incredibly helpful in terms of looking after staff.  Some of them are perhaps a little bit more 

challenging but often passengers themselves put a bit of a red flag up.  I am not saying that for a sympathy 

vote in terms of the Network Rail and GTR teams, but they care.  We all care passionately to fix this as fast as 

we can.  We really do. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you for that.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  My question is to GTR and it is about customer service and particularly passenger 

information. 

 

Page 74



 

 

 

On 7 June [2018] I was stuck on a train at the platform at Moorgate, seemingly not going anywhere, and the 

announcer at one stage stated - I wrote it down - “I cannot give you information because no one is telling me 

anything”.  She was desperately trying to tell us whether she had trains coming in or not and where they were 

going to.  She just could not. 

 

I met someone on the train this morning coming in and she told me that last week she got a train to go to 

Palmers Green.  It stopped at Bowes Park because there was a faulty headlight.  She got out and got on the 

next train and it went straight past the station but no one had been told or anything because it was trying to 

make up time. 

 

As well as many cancellations and delays at the moment, passenger information does seem to be lacking.  I am 

just wondering if you are going to be redressing that? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  Yes, we are aware of that.  I refer to 

what I said earlier.  I am not aware of the Palmers Green-Bowes Park issue specifically, but trying to get 

information to staff on platforms, which is what you will have had at Moorgate, is challenging.  If they are out 

talking to passengers, they are not in front of a computer screen.  If they in front of a computer screen, they 

are not in front of passengers. 

 

We have created separate teams dedicated to getting information out in our control centre at Three Bridges.  A 

team works continuously, other than through the very small hours of the night, to ensure that we make sure 

that we can get information to stations as timely as possible.  In particular where we are putting in 

arrangements for extra stops and in the case that you described at Palmers Green and Bowes Park, the 

following train should have stopped if there was a cancellation. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  They all stop at Palmers Green.  It is one of your busiest stations.  That it bypassed 

it to make up time is bizarre. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  If that is what the reason was, I am 

happy to pick up the details afterwards, but it seems a bit bizarre.  You would not do that necessarily if the 

train was running late or whatever.  We are not saying we get it right every time, but we try our best on that. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes, just going back to this point about whether the timetable should have been delayed.  I 

have not really heard anything that convinces me that you made the right decision.  You have had delayed 

trains, you have had not enough drivers, you have had a timetable that was agreed at the last minute, and this 

was the biggest shake-up of rail services in the southeast since the privatisation of the railways.  In hindsight, 

was it the wrong decision to press ahead rather than to take a bit of time and be a bit more careful and 

perhaps have a less cavalier attitude towards this? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  The key word is possibly “hindsight”, 

without wanting to replay your question.  We did not have a devil-may-care attitude at all.  The complexity of 

what we were trying to deliver -- all parts of the industry, other train operating companies (TOCs) that were 

involved, the DfT, the ORR, companies adjacent to ourselves, as well as the challenges we had with the 

existing timetable, as I described in Southern, meant that there were a whole series of steps that we went 

through very diligently.  The fact that circumstances - as John and I have both described - and time were 

against us has led us to where we are at.  However, be assured of our commitment.  John and I speak three or 

four times a day on, “Can we do this?  Should we do that?”  That is just in the very short term as well as our 

Page 75



 

 

 

responsibilities to try to look strategically at how we do the best for this part of the network to the greater 

good. 

 

On the issue of whether we should have put our foot on the ball, for want of a better description, history will 

relate at some point when that could or should have been done, but the issue, as John described before, was 

that there are so many interfaces that if we had done that it could well have caused much greater difficulty for 

the industry even beyond the southeast because of the interconnectedness.  When we designed this timetable 

and through some of the steps that we were going through in the first quarter of the year, decisions we were 

making as far as London was concerned were having an impact as far away as Sheffield or Manchester, such is 

the interconnectedness of the rail network.  Exactly as John has described, the review that Andrew Haines is 

undertaking at the moment as the new Chief Executive of Network Rail is to take a view as to what happens 

next in terms of some of those major changes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  What about the role of the DfT in all of this?  Was there pressure from there to push ahead 

with the timetable rather than delay it and perhaps review it?  Were you getting pressure from the DfT to push 

ahead? 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  The DfT were on the Industry 

Readiness Board.  They were part of the group of individuals that were trying to create a can-do, “Let us make 

this happen”.  They were probably two of 20-odd people.  From that respect, yes, they were pushing things 

along but along with many of us across the industry.  Beyond that, from a Network Rail perspective, I did not 

see anything inappropriate.  They did not say, “Thou shalt”, or, “We do not care how you do this.  Get on with 

it”.  There were never any conversations like that, ever. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you very much.  I just wanted to finish with Rail magazine and 

Nigel Harris’s piece.  He says: 

 

“The bottom line is that the industry and government across the board have comprehensively failed us 

all here and we need to solve the problem.” 

 

You regularly have referred to the Industry Readiness Board.  Twenty-odd people, you say, John, sit on it and 

that includes the DfT, TOCs, Network Rail, the ORR.  Going forward, what are you doing to make that fit for 

purpose to make sure the next steps on this programme go smoothly? 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  We have had one meeting of the 

Industry Readiness Board since the timetable went live and it was a very sombre meeting, as you can imagine. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I can imagine. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  We gave a presentation, which I led 

on behalf of GTR, which was our perspective, quite rightly, as facing up to the passengers and being the last 

person standing.  As we have said before and as we have alluded to, the industry has a lot to learn out of this 

and we take our share of responsibility as others have done already, but it is back to the small steps that we 

referred to before.  Those need to be very carefully examined. 

 

Above all else, just in closing, if I may, Chair, from my perspective, some of those interdependencies are ones 

where we need to focus our attention because the industry systems and structures that have got us to where 

we are cannot be right if they have got us to where we are at the moment. 

Page 76



 

 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  There also needs to be more provision for you to properly analyse and 

challenge each other’s data rather than just taking the word that this has happened when the reality is that it 

was not on time or whatever. 

 

Nick Brown (Chief Operating Officer, Govia Thameslink Railway):  The expectation to find a 

workaround. 

 

John Halsall (Route Managing Director (South East), Network Rail):  As I am sure the Committee is 

aware, there is a review which has been commissioned with Stephen Glaister [Emeritus Professor of Transport 

and Infrastructure, Imperial College London, and Chair, ORR] and that is the crucial output from that review.  

There is something for both Nick and me in terms of the personal challenge that we give across the different 

elements of the railway system and we would recognise that. 

 

One of the other points that will emerge from what Stephen Glaister does is something around the single 

controlling mind.  The railway is a highly complicated system and I can completely understand the confusion of 

passengers and indeed committees that are reviewing this current situation, but you will not find a single 

individual or body which is responsible for this.  I believe that the reason for that is because there is not a 

single body or individual who is responsible.  That is both a cause and also a key point of learning.  That would 

be my take on it. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you very much, John and Nick, for your openness this 

morning with us as a Committee. 

 

 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 11 July 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Transport Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee. 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 25 June 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

4. 

 

 

Govia Thameslink Railway 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

a follow up letter to Govia Thameslink requesting 

further information. 

 

 

 

Completed. The Chair 

wrote to Govia 

Thameslink on           

29 June 2018. Further 

details can be found at 

Agenda Item 5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 4



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 13 June 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

5. 

 

 

Future Rail in London 

 

David Leam, London First, to provide any best practice 

examples of digital railway use from around the world. 

 

Stephen Joseph, Campaign for Better London, to 

provide the Committee with a copy of the survey 

undertaken of global examples of innovative forms of 

taxation to fun improvements to rail services. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any related site visits. 

 

 

Ongoing. The Chair 

wrote to guests to 

request this 

information on          

20 June 2018 

The survey referred to 

by Campaign for Better 

London can be found 

here - 

http://cbtthoughtlead

ership.org.uk/SDGFun

dingAndFinancingRep

ort.pdf  

Ongoing.  

 

London First 

 

Campaign for 

Better Transport 

 

 

 

6. Transport Committee Work Programme 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

the scope and terms of reference into an investigation 

into taxi and private hire services. 

 

Ongoing 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

7. London TravelWatch Performance Report and 

Recruitment 

The Chief Executive of London TravelWatch agreed to 

provide the Committee with further details of the 

timeline agreed with Transport for London (TfL) for 

implementing London TravelWatch’s recommendations 

on ticket offices across TfL. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Leads, to agree the 

recruitment process for the three London TravelWatch 

Board positions, including Deputy Chair, due to expire 

at the end of the year. 

 

 

 

Ongoing. The Chair 

wrote to London 

TravelWatch on 20 

June 2018. 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

London 

TravelWatch 

 

 

Page 80

http://cbtthoughtleadership.org.uk/SDGFundingAndFinancingReport.pdf
http://cbtthoughtleadership.org.uk/SDGFundingAndFinancingReport.pdf
http://cbtthoughtleadership.org.uk/SDGFundingAndFinancingReport.pdf
http://cbtthoughtleadership.org.uk/SDGFundingAndFinancingReport.pdf


        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 16 May 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

8. 

 

 

Tube Delays 

 

The Director of Network Operations, TfL, to provide 

further details of TfL’s approach to assessing the impact 

of the Royal Wedding on central London. The 

Committee also requested clarity on the actions being 

undertaken on the District line in advance of the Four 

Lines Modernisation programme 

 

 

 

Ongoing. The Chair 

wrote to Transport for 

London to request this 

information on          

24 May 2018. 

 

 

TfL 

 

 

 

14. River Bus Services 

 

The Chief Executive of the Port of London Authority to 

provide the following additional information: 

 A copy of The Thames Vision, which set out their 

assessment of capacity pinch points along the river; 

and 

 Details of the environmental study undertaken by 

the PLA to assess the effects of NOx exposure on 

the river and on land, including on staff. 

 

 

Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers, to share 

details with the Committee of the recent trial service to 

Gravesend. 

 

General Manager of Sponsored Services, TfL, agreed to 

consider whether TfL’s Business Plan would include 

interim targets for river bus journeys and to update the 

Committee. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

the output from the meeting and any related site visits. 

 

 

The Chair wrote to 

guests to request this 

information on          

24 May 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing. This site visit 

took place on 28 June. 

Further details will be 

reported to the 

Committee at a future 

meeting. A letter 

arising from the 

meeting and visit will 

be sent shortly.  

 

 

 

 

Page 81



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 1 March 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transport Commissioner 

 

The Transport Commissioner to arrange two briefings; 

one with the Committee and Gareth Powell, Managing 

Director for Surface Transport, TfL, to discuss the 

reconfiguration of bus services; and one with Assembly 

Member McCartney and Mark Wild, Managing Director 

of London Underground, to discuss complaints from 

residents about noise from the Night time tube at Seven 

Sisters. 

 

Ongoing. The briefing 

on bus services is in 

the process of being 

arranged. The briefing 

with Mark Wild has 

been completed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 6 December 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

8. 

 

 

 

 

Cycling Infrastructure 

The former Cycling Commissioner agreed to provide the 

Committee with the following: 

 The report for the National Infrastructure 

Commission (NIC) on cycling once it has been 

finalised; and 

 A list of potential cycling schemes yet to be 

undertaken by the current administration. 

Ongoing 

The list of cycling 

schemes was reported 

to the Committee 

meeting on 10 January 

2018. The report of 

the NIC has yet to be 

published.  

Andrew Gilligan 

 

3. Legal Implications  
 
3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
  

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None 
 

 Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 958 (GTR Letter) 

Contact Officer:  Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 5526 

E-mail:   laura.pelling@london.gov.uk   

  

Page 82

mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 11 July 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report outlines recent actions taken by the Chair under delegated authority, in consultation with 

the party Group Lead Members, in accordance with the delegation granted to the Chair by the 

Transport Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chair of the Committee under 

delegated authority, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, namely to agree a 

letter following the Committee meeting on 25 June 2018 to request further information 

from Govia Thameslink.  
 
 

  

3. Background  
 

3.1 At its meeting on 25 June 2018, the Committee resolved: 

 

 That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree a 

follow up letter to Govia Thameslink requesting further information. 

 

3.2 Following consultation with party Group Lead Members, the follow up letter to Govia Thameslink 

was sent on 29 June 2018. 

 

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 5



        

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

4.1 Following consultation with party Group Lead Members, the follow up letter from the Chair to Govia 

Thameslink was sent on 29 June 2018.and is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1  There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

 

Appendix 1 – Letter to Govia Thameslink, dated 29 June 2018. 
 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  

Member Delegated Authority Form: 958 (GTR letter). 

 

Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5526 

Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

 

  

Page 84

mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, Chair of the Transport Committee 
 

Contact: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager, London Assembly, City Hall, Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Tel: 020 7983 5526; email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

London Assembly 
City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 
London SE1 2AA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Dear Nick, 
 
London Assembly Transport Committee – 25 June 2018 
 
I would like to thank you for attending the Transport Committee meeting on 25 June.  We are 
grateful for your contributions during the session.  During the meeting, a number of issues came up 
that we did not have time to cover fully.  I would therefore be grateful if you could provide the 
Committee with information on the following topics: 

• The nature and scale of the cuts to inner London metro services, serving areas such as Norbury, 
Thornton Heath and Norwood Junction.  In particular, the level of service that GTR is now 
providing around school times, and for football fans at Millwall and Crystal Palace matches. 

• Whether GTR is in discussions with the Department for Transport (DfT) regarding the use of 
easements for off-peak services that have been moved into peak hours. 

• Details – for each line of work – of how many drivers were trained and ready to operate services 
on 20 May 2018, and how many drivers were needed to fulfil the timetable. 

• What discussions GTR has had with DfT regarding funding for driver training. 

• What GTR’s policy is regarding trains non-stopping at stations in order to make up time against 
the timetable, how it ensures passengers at those stations are properly served, and how 
passengers on board those trains are assisted to complete their journeys safely and with minimal 
disruption. 

Passengers have again experienced significant disruption in recent weeks and it is imperative you 
work with partners to put this right urgently.  Once again, thank you for your time and your 
contribution to our discussion.  Given how important this issue is for passengers I would appreciate a 
prompt response to our further questions. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE 
Chair, Transport Committee  

29 June 2018 Nick Brown 
Chief Operating Officer 
Govia Thameslink Railway 

 
 

Page 85

lpelling
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 86



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Future of Rail in London 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 11 July 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion on the future of rail services in London. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to guests on 
London’s rail network, and notes the discussion. 

 
2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final report for this investigation.  
 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Transport Committee is investigating the future of rail in London. This investigation is focusing 

on identifying London’s current and future rail needs and assessing the extent to which Network Rail 

plans and the Mayor’s Transport Strategy will address these. This investigation will also be used to 

identify innovative practice which could improve passenger experience, and the frequency, capacity 

and reliability of London’s rail network.  

 

3.2 The Committee used its June 2018 meeting and will also use its July 2018 meeting to discuss this 

topic. Further informal meetings and site visits are being planned.  

 

3.3 The Committee is recommended to delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final report from this investigation.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 6



        

4.  Issues for Consideration  
  

4.1 The meeting will focus on London’s future rail needs and how these will be delivered. The following 

guests have been invited to today’s meeting: 

 Geoff Hobbs, Director, Public Transport Service Planning, Transport for London; 

 Michèle Dix, Managing Director Crossrail 2, Transport for London; 

 Rupert Walker, Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail; 

 Mark Farrow, Director for London Rail, Network Rail; and  

 Paul Plummer, Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: None.  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 938 (Rail Network) 

 

Contact Officer: Grace Pollard, Assistant Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 88

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                 
  

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Response to Report on Future 
Transport 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 11 July 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This paper provides details of the Mayor and Transport for London’s (TfL) response to the 

Transport Committee’s recent report on emerging transport technology. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the response from TfL to its report, Future Transport: 

How is London Responding to Technological Innovation?, and the impact review for 

the report, as attached at Appendices 1 and 2. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee carried out an investigation into emerging transport technology in 2017/18. 

The report Future Transport: How is London Responding to Technological Innovation? was 

published in February 2018. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The Mayor and TfL responded to the Committee’s report in May 2018. This can be found at 

Appendix 1. 

4.2 Officers have prepared an impact review for the report. This highlights media and stakeholder 

responses, summarises the Mayor and TfL’s response to the recommendations, and assesses 

progress toward implementation. This can be found at Appendix 2. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

Page 89

Agenda Item 7



        

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Response from the Mayor and TfL 

Appendix 2 – Report impact review 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 
 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 90

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

TfL Response to London 

Assembly Transport 

Committee Report on 

Future Transport 

 

May 201 8 
 

Page 91

lpelling_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



 

Introduction 
 
In February 2018, the London Assembly Transport Committee published a report, ‘Future Transport 

- How is London Responding to Technological Innovation?’ 

 

The report makes a number of recommendations to improve how we plan, monitor, and respond to 

the challenges and opportunities of technological change in the capital. Our responses to these 

recommendations are set out below.  

 

Recommendation 1 
 

Transport for London (TfL) should establish an advisory panel, with the Department for Transport 

(DfT), London boroughs and other key stakeholders, to have input and oversee the work of the 

Transport Innovation directorate. This panel and Transport Innovation officers should be asked to 

regularly update TfL Board on emerging technological trends in the transport sector and lead a 

discussion on action TfL needs to take in preparation. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the 

end of May 2018 whether a panel will be established and what process will be put in place to 

update the TfL Board.  

 

TfL Response 
 

We agree that there should be a number of ways in which our stakeholders can influence the work 

of the Transport Innovation directorate, although we feel that this should not be confined to a 

single group or advisory panel.  

 

We engage frequently with the market on new and emerging technologies and business models, and 

actively encourage and seek out businesses looking to expand into the London market or develop 

new services. We also work closely with a wide range of stakeholders, including London boroughs, 

the DfT, academics, innovators and other organisations on horizon scanning and emerging policies 

and technologies. This includes work on dockless bikes, demand responsive transport, connected 

and autonomous vehicles (CAVs) and drones. In addition, we work with London’s Chief Digital 

Officer and his team to use digital technology to keep London at the forefront of innovation. 

 
There are a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that the TfL Board is engaged in this to create 

a two-way flow of ideas and options for progress. The TfL Board, for example, examines TfL’s 

developing approaches to safety, customer service, ticketing and engineering as part of the existing 

committee and panel arrangements. Given their wide-ranging background, the TfL Board offers an 

invaluable source of insight into the practical application of new and innovative approaches. We are 

therefore content with existing Governance arrangements, but will of course keep this under review 

as part of pursuing continuous improvement. 

 

Page 92



 

Recommendation 2 
 
To ensure the introduction of CAVs is beneficial for London, the Mayor and TfL should produce an 

update to their car club strategy in 2018/19 which reflects the new Mayor's Transport Strategy (MTS) 

and specifically considers how to embed car sharing in the context of the potential emergence of 

connected and autonomous vehicles. The Transport Innovation directorate and advisory panel 

should have input to the modified strategy. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 

2018 that this work is underway.  

 

TfL Response 
 

We agree that the car club strategy has proved an important initiative that has shaped our collective 

work with car club operators and interested stakeholders. Through the strategy we have established 

agreed targets for membership of car clubs in London, and for deploying Ultra Low Emission 

Vehicles in car club fleets.   

 

This policy direction is reflected in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS), which highlights the role of 

more efficient use of vehicles in future. The new MTS (proposal 106) also commits us to ensuring 

that potential impact of CAVS is considered alongside the other policies and proposals in the 

strategy. We will consider the potential impact of CAVS on car clubs as part of this.  

 

Recommendation 3 
 

The Mayor and TfL should consider the potential development and impact of autonomous bus 

technology on London. A review of this area should be undertaken during 2018/19 and the potential 

implications for London's existing bus network, including risks of changing the way bus services are 

staffed. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 that this work is underway.  

 

TfL Response 
 
Current plans do not involve looking at fully autonomous bus technology. Drivers on TfL buses are 

an important part of ensuring a good customer experience on the network by promoting safety, 

wellbeing and providing communication, alongside their role in revenue collection.  

 

We are seeing an increase in more incremental autonomous technologies, often referred to as 

advanced driver assistance systems, or ADAS, and as part of our Vision Zero plan we will make use 

of these to reduce accidents and road danger. 

ADAS forms a significant part of our new Bus Safety Standard, a suite of technology and vehicle 

design features that will be added to the Bus Vehicle Specification for all new London buses. A 

number of safety measures use autonomous technologies and ADAS, including intelligent speed 

assistance (ISA) and autonomous emergency braking (AEB). These technologies help to avoid and 

mitigate against human factors in collisions, as well as improving driver performance. The rollout of 

ISA on new buses has already begun, with trials of AEB currently underway. The results are being 

closely monitored and regular updates will be made to the TfL Board.  

 

Recommendation 4 
 

Page 93



 

TfL and boroughs should consider whether to introduce a London-wide licensing regime for 

dockless cycle hire. This could involve a small number of operators being granted permission to 

operate across London. Licensing requirements could specify commitments to provide services in 

outer London boroughs, and adherence to the terms of TfL's code of practice for operators. We ask 

the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 that discussions on this proposal are 

underway.  

 

TfL Response 
 

Dockless cycle hire has the potential to make cycling more accessible and attractive for Londoners. 

While we welcome responsible bike hire initiatives, dockless bike operators need to work with TfL 

and London boroughs to make sure that schemes do not have a negative impact on other people 

walking, cycling or otherwise using streets, or result in unlawful highway obstruction. 

 

We are working closely with London boroughs to ensure dockless cycle hire aligns with these goals. 

We have been engaging with London Councils, the DfT and dockless operators themselves since 

trials began, and will continue to do so. The responsibilities of the boroughs - as the highway 

authorities for their own road networks - are key when considering regulation and enforcement.    

 

London’s first dockless bike operators to launch with agreement from boroughs began operating in 

September 2017. Our approach has been to take a co-ordinating role, setting standards. To this end, 

and as noted in the Assembly’s report, we published a Code of Practice to set a benchmark for 

operations. We are updating the Code of Practice based on operational feedback from London 

boroughs, and will keep the document under review.  

 

 

Recommendation 5 
 

The Mayor and TfL should engage in discussions with the Government, boroughs and operators to 

develop the principles of a new regulatory regime for demand-responsive bus services. These 

should include requirements to serve areas with less dense public transport coverage, and ensure 

accessibility for older and disabled passengers. Thereafter the Mayor and TfL should implement 

these principles where possible, and ask the Government to make the necessary legislative changes. 

We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 its plans to initiate these discussions.  

 

TfL Response 
 
In line with the MTS, we are exploring how demand-responsive bus services could improve 

London’s public transport network, including through the development of plans for trials. Our main 

focus is on how to serve difficult to reach areas, particularly in outer London, and how such services 

could support inclusion, accessibility, safety and environmental performance. The services would 

not replace any existing TfL services, and would complement the London bus network. Through 

engagement with Government, boroughs and operators, we have undertaken three main activities 

on demand responsive services to date:  

 

1) In March 2018, we issued a Market Sounding Questionnaire to establish market interest to 

deliver a small TfL demand-responsive bus trial. This will focus on areas of outer London 

where car dependency is highest. A trial will help us set standards for a potential future 

Page 94



 

service, including the use of concessions (such as the Freedom Pass), driver pay, wheelchair 

access and customer service.   

 

2) Current legislation was introduced before new technologies were developed and TfL 

recognises the need for clarity on what is now required to ensure the highest possible 

standards are maintained. We are reviewing the London Service Permit statutory guidance to 

enable more scope to regulate these services within the current legislative framework, and 

without adversely affecting traditional services. Subject to consultation, revised guidance 

should be issued by December 2018.    

 

3) TfL is preparing for demand-responsive services to emerge in other areas, including Private 

Hire Vehicles (PHV). This is why, in February 2018, we published a policy statement setting 

out how private hire and ride-sharing services will operate in the future. This stated that we 

will consider making use of the Transport Act 1985 and the Private Hire Vehicles (London) 

Act 1998 to set regulations for ride-sharing. We will also publicly consult on proposals for 

regulations to cover new, novel or ridesharing services, as described in TfL's recent policy 

paper. This consultation will build on the improvements to standards and safety set out in 

the Mayor's Taxi and Private Hire Action Plan. As part of this process, we will be seeking to 

achieve more consistency between PHV regulations and the London Service Permit regime.  

 

We will continue to work closely with the Government in this area. We plan to publish guidance 

jointly with the DfT on ride-sharing in taxis and PHVs. We will also contribute to the Government’s 

‘Future of Urban Mobility’ strategy, expected later in 2018. 

 

Recommendation 6 
 
TfL should continue to make its data open for use by app developers, but seek to enter reciprocal 

agreements whereby data produced by apps powered by underlying TfL data is shared with TfL. This 

should be a requirement for existing apps using TfL data and new apps to do so. This principle 

should also be in the Mayor's upcoming Smart London plan. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm 

by the end of May 2018 what steps they are taking to deliver this.  

 

TfL Response 
 
Releasing our data in an open format for anyone to use, free of charge, generates around £130m a 

year of economic benefits and savings to London and we continue to work in partnership with the 

developer community to use our open data to deliver new products that improve journeys and 

support innovation. Around 14,400 open data users are currently registered for TfL’s Unified API, 

from app developers to academic institutions and sat-nav providers. These developers have created 

more than 650 apps for users to choose from, and products powered by our open data are regularly 

used by 42 per cent of Londoners. 

 

We are keen to continue our close work with the developer community, and we are currently 

exploring how we can establish more data partnerships. We are eager to work with developers to 

explore how we can receive appropriate data and statistics back from those developers who 

consume our services. As part of this, London’s Chief Digital Officer recently completed a Listening 

Exercise to inform development of the Smart London Plan, which will launch this year. We will 

continue to work with developers and the GLA to create an eco-system in which data is shared 

Page 95



 

between TfL, developers and others.   

 

Recommendation 7 
 

The Mayor and TfL should seek to understand the likely scale and impact of commercial drone use 

in London, both airborne and ground-based. Any existing use of drones in London should be 

monitored, and discussions should take place with the logistics and retail industries and other 

stakeholders. TfL should produce new projections for drone use in London to inform continued 

debate about how to regulate and manage their operations. We ask the Mayor and TfL to produce 

initial findings and projections by the end of May 2018. 

 

TfL Response 
 

We are actively engaging with stakeholders to understand the scale and impact of commercial drone 

use in London. We are leading a London task force as part of the Nesta Flying High Challenge. Nesta 

are a global innovation foundation, and Flying High is the first programme of its kind to convene city 

leaders, regulators, public services, businesses and industry around the future of drones in cities.  

 

This programme will help us to understand the risks, concerns and opportunities of this rapidly-

evolving area and to work out what future policy and strategy is required to ensure that any future 

drone in London supports the aims of the MTS. Flying High continues our engagement with the DfT, 

the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) and the National Air Traffic Control Service (NATS) on the 

upcoming Drone (Regulation) Bill 2017-19. This Bill will consider the impact of drones on London’s 

skies, and how they should be managed in the future. Nesta will publish outputs from the first 

phase of the Flying High Challenge in July 2018 and their vision will be shared with the London 

Assembly.  

 

We have actively engaged with the various companies wishing to trial delivery robots – otherwise 

known as ground-based drones – in London, to understand their plans. In this work, we recognise 

the risks they could create for accessibility and active travel and that questions remain around their 

legality. We have therefore called on the DfT to clarify the legal status of delivery robots, so we can 

understand whether or not legislation would be required to permit their use on the pavement. If it 

becomes clear that delivery robots can lawfully operate in pedestrian areas, we will work closely 

with boroughs and London Councils to gather evidence and develop policies to ensure any 

deployment of such technology in London is safe, and is implemented in a way that is consistent 

with the goals of the MTS.  

 

Recommendation 8 
 

The Mayor and TfL should proactively engage in discussions with the Government, London 

Boroughs, the drone industry, National Air Traffic Services and other relevant stakeholders about 

the future control system for drones in London, ahead of the expected publication of the 

Government’s draft Drone Bill in Spring 2018. TfL’s aim should be to agree a common set of 

principles for a new control system, including the necessity for new TfL powers in this area. 

Consideration should also be given to the need for an integrated control system for ground-based 

autonomous vehicles and airborne drones, and how this could be implemented. We ask the Mayor 

and TfL to update the committee by the end of May 2018 with details of discussions they are 

undertaking. 

Page 96



 

 

TfL Response 
 

As mentioned in our response to recommendation 7, we are involved in the Nesta Flying High 

Challenge and are working closely with stakeholders, including the emergency services and 

academic institutions, to investigate drone use in London. This will be the main source of evidence 

that we will use in our response to the current Drone (Regulation) Bill. In addition, we are joining the 

British Standards Institute committee responsible for the development and implementation of 

British Standards for Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (drones).  

 

This is a new and developing area of technology. As it progresses, we will use our voice to influence 

policy and regulation at a local, national and global level. Consistent with MTS policy and our safety-

first approach to CAVs, we will work with relevant bodies to understand and, where appropriate, 

shape practical solutions for both ground and aerial vehicles. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98



  Transport Committee 

Report Impact Review 

Future transport: How is London responding to 

technological innovation 
Released February 2018 

 
The Transport Committee’s report on future transport 

considered how the Mayor and TfL are responding to 

technological change in the transport sector. Several areas 

of technological development were considered, including 

connected and autonomous vehicles, drones and app-

based services such as dockless cycle hire. 

 

 

Media coverage 

 

The report received good media coverage, with both 

national and local press articles on the report and 

broadcast coverage. Broadcast coverage included news 

items on London Live news (television) and LBC 1152AM 

(radio).  

 

The Independent reported on the launch, focusing on London’s preparedness. The Evening 

Standard covered the report in two articles focusing on autonomous buses and drones. City 

AM focused on dockless bikes, with a further article referring to the data-sharing 

recommendation.  

 

There was further coverage on This is Money, Bloomberg, the Robotics Business Review, 

TechSite, Transport Xtra and other trade publications. 

 

 

Launch event 

 

The Committee held a successful launch event for the report at City Hall. This featured 

speakers from Transport for London, Starship Technologies, the Society of Motor 

Manufacturers and Traders and the University of Oxford. 

 

The report was very well-received at the event, which was over-subscribed. Feedback from 

Dr Debbie Hopkins of the University of Oxford was that the report was one of the few recent 

reports on transport technology that engaged critically with the topic. 

 

Appendix 2 

Page 99

https://www.independent.co.uk/news/business/news/london-robot-taxis-drone-deliveries-warning-self-driving-cabs-buses-a8208591.html
https://www.standard.co.uk/news/transport/major-new-report-tells-tfl-to-start-preparing-for-use-of-driverless-buses-in-london-a3765421.html
https://www.standard.co.uk/comment/comment/you-won-t-catch-me-using-a-drone-to-get-to-work-a3767526.html
http://www.cityam.com/280515/tfl-told-look-into-london-licensing-regime-dockless-cycle
http://www.cityam.com/280683/transport-london-crackdown-uber-and-private-hire-phv
http://www.thisismoney.co.uk/money/cars/article-5390721/New-report-says-London-isnt-ready-autonomous-cars.html
https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2018-02-13/london-not-ready-for-driverless-cars-before-2030s-report-says
https://www.roboticsbusinessreview.com/ai/robotics-geopolitics-ai-policy-balancing-robots-and-jobs-a-global-challenge/
http://www.techsite.io/p/778773
https://www.transportxtra.com/publications/local-transport-today/news/56088/tfl-must-up-its-game-on-new-mobility-systems--assembly


  Transport Committee 

 
Keith Prince AM introducing the report at the launch event. 

 

 

Response to recommendations 

The Mayor and Transport for London provided their joint response to the report’s 

recommendations in May. This is summarised in the table below. 

 Recommendation summary Progress Response summary 

1 TfL should establish an advisory 
panel to oversee the work of its 
Transport Innovation unit, with 
regular updates to the TfL Board. 
   

TfL will not set up an advisory panel or 
make any changes to how the Board is 
updated on technological 
developments. 

2 TfL should update the car club 
strategy to take into account the 
potential use of Connected and 
Autonomous Vehicles (CAVs). 

  

TfL will not update the car club 
strategy. TfL will however consider the 
potential impact of CAVs on car clubs 
in line with proposals made in the 
Mayor's Transport Strategy. 

3 TfL should review the potential 
impact of the development on 
autonomous bus technology on 
London, including on bus staffing. 
   

TfL will not review this as fully 
autonomous buses are not being 
considered on the bus network. 

4 TfL and boroughs should consider 
whether to introduce a London-
wide licensing scheme for 
dockless cycle hire services. 
 

  

TfL is not considering a London-wide 
licensing scheme. 

Page 100



  Transport Committee 

5 TfL should engage with the 
Government, boroughs and 
operators to develop the  
principles for a new regulatory 
regime for demand-responsive 
bus services. 

  

TfL is reviewing the London Service 
Permit statutory guidance to enable 
more scope to regulate these services 
within the current legislative 
framework. Revised guidance should 
be released in December 2018 after 
consultation. 

6 TfL should require apps powered 
by TfL data to enter reciprocal 
data-sharing agreements with 
TfL. 

  

TfL is exploring how it can establish 
more data partnerships in order to 
receive appropriate data and statistics 
back from those developers who 
consume its services. There is no 
indication TfL will make this a 
requirement. 

7 The Mayor and TfL should seek to 
understand the likely scale and 
impact of commercial drone use 
in London, and produce new 
projections for future drone use 
in London. 

  

TfL is leading a drones task force as 
part of the Nesta High Flying 
Challenge, to understand the risks, 
concerns and opportunities of this 
area. There is no indication that TfL 
will produce new projections for 
drone use. 

8 The Mayor and TfL should 
proactively engage in discussions 
with the Government about the 
future control system for drones 
in London. TfL’s aim should be to 
agree a common set of principles 
for a new control system, 
including the necessity for new 
TfL powers in this area. 
   

TfL will provide evidence from the 
Nesta task force in response to the 
Drone (Regulation) Bill. TfL will also 
join British Standards Institute 
committee responsible for the 
development and implementation of 
British Standards for Unmanned Aerial 
Vehicles (drones). 

 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 11 July 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides details of planned scrutiny work by the Transport Committee and the schedule 

of Committee meetings for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly year.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee agrees its work programme for the remainder of the 2018/19 

Assembly year, as set out in the report. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree a submission to the Office of Rail and Road inquiry into service 

disruptions on the Govia Thameslink Railway network. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting.  

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following is a list of topics that the Committee is aiming to explore in this Assembly year: 

 River services; 

 National Rail; 

 Taxi and private hire services; 

 Freight; 

 Healthy streets; and 

 The Night Tube. 

4.2 The Committee will also seek to hold a meeting with the Commissioner of Transport for London 

(TfL) towards the end of 2018/19, most likely on 14 March 2019. The Committee will also seek to 

meet the new Deputy Mayor for Transport. 

Page 103

Agenda Item 8



        

4.3 The exact scope and timings for work on any of these other possible topics will be determined in due 

course and more detailed work programme reports submitted to future meetings. The Committee 

seeks to maintain flexibility in its work programme to take account of any relevant developments 

when scheduling its work and has a rolling work programme so work on any topics may continue 

beyond each Assembly year.  

 

River services 

4.4 The Committee discussed London’s river services at its meeting in May 2018 with TfL, Port of 

London Authority and other stakeholders. A letter to the Mayor on this topic is being prepared. The 

Committee carried out a site visit to travel on a river bus service on 28 June 2018. A note will be 

provided to a future meeting. 

 

National Rail 

4.5 The Committee is conducting an investigation into London’s National Rail network. The Chair agreed 

the scope and terms of reference of the investigation in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members. As site visit and informal roundtable meeting have also been undertaken; findings will be 

reported to Members at a later date. Today’s meeting will be used to discuss this topic.  

 

4.6 The Committee held an urgent discussion on 25 June 2018, on the disruptions affecting rail 

passengers using services run by Govia Thameslink Railway (GTR) since a new timetable was 

introduced in May 2018. The Committee is in the process of writing to GTR following this meeting. It 

is also proposed that Members delegate authority to the Chair in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members to agree a submission to the Office of Rail and Road’s inquiry into the disruptions.1 

 

Night Tube 

4.7 TfL launched the Night Tube service around two years ago, progressively extending the service to 

additional lines. The Committee will use its September 2018 meeting consider any challenges the 

service may face such as passenger usage, finances, anti-social behaviour and noise complaints. 

 

Taxi and Private hire 

4.8 The Committee is planning to investigate taxi and private hire services, following up its 2014 report 

and subsequent scrutiny. This will include discussions at Committee meetings in October and 

November 2018.  

 

4.9 Transport for London has recently consulted on changes to safety regulation for the private hire 

sector. The Committee submitted a response. 

 

Site visits  

4.10 The Committee carried out a site visit to Tottenham Court Road on 6 June 2018 to view Crossrail 

Ltd’s progress constructing a new Elizabeth Line station at this site.  

 
Responses to recent Transport Committee work  

4.11 The table below provides details of any responses due from the Mayor, TfL and/or others to 

Committee work.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1
 http://orr.gov.uk/news-and-media/press-releases/2018/orr-launches-independent-inquiry-into-may-timetable-disruption  

Transport Committee work Details of responses due 

London’s cycling infrastructure Response from Mayor and TfL due by  

31 August 2018 

Page 104

http://orr.gov.uk/news-and-media/press-releases/2018/orr-launches-independent-inquiry-into-may-timetable-disruption


        

 
London TravelWatch 

4.12 The GLA Act establishes London TravelWatch as an arms-length body of the London Assembly. 
London TravelWatch provides regular reports to the Transport Committee. The most recent update 
report was considered on 13 June 2018.  
 
Schedule of meetings 

4.13 The schedule of the remaining Transport Committee meetings for 2018/19 is set out below with 

details of the main prospective topics identified to date: 

 11 July 2018 – National Rail; 

 12 September 2018 – Night Tube; 

 9 October 2018 – Taxi and private hire; 

 13 November 2018 – Taxi and private hire; 

 5 December 2018 – to be confirmed; 

 9 January 2019 – to be confirmed; 

 5 February 2019 – to be confirmed; and 

 14 March 2019 – TfL Commissioner. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 105

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - 13 June 2018 Transport Committee
	Minutes -  Appendix 2 - TravelWatch - 13 June 2018 Transport Committee
	Minutes - Transport Committee - 25 June
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - GTR Transport Committee

	4 Summary List of Actions
	5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	Appendix 1 - Follow-up letter to GTR

	6 Future of Rail in London
	7 Response to Report on Future Transport
	Appendix 1 - Future Transport response
	Appendix 2 - Future Transport report impact review

	8 Transport Committee Work Programme



